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INTRODUCTION 

Defendant United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) and its contractors 

triggered the catastrophic Gold King Mine spill on August 5, 2015. At least three million gallons 

of contaminated acid mine drainage, containing more than 880,000 pounds of heavy metals, were 

released into Cement Creek that day, on a path towards the Animas and San Juan Rivers. In its 

aftermath, EPA Administrator Gina McCarthy testified that “we have taken full responsibility 

without question” for the spill and that “we will hold ourselves and continue to hold ourselves to 

the same high standards that we demand of others.” (Doc. 8 [Navajo Nation First Amended 

Complaint (“NN FAC”)] ¶ 124.) Yet despite its promise, EPA now attempts to escape liability for 

its negligent and reckless actions, and for the damage it caused to the Navajo Nation, New Mexico, 

and Utah (the “Sovereign Plaintiffs”), their environment and their people. (Doc. 44 [“Mot.”].) The 

Court should reject EPA’s attempt. 

First, EPA wrongly argues that New Mexico and Utah seek to interfere with its cleanup 

efforts at the Bonita Peak Mining District (“BPMD”) in Colorado. The Clean Water Act (“CWA”) 

claims and Utah’s Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) claim do not challenge 

EPA’s removal or remedial action at the BPMD under the Comprehensive Environmental 

Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), 42 U.S.C. § 9613(h). New Mexico’s 

CWA claim focuses on hundreds of mining sources that are discharging pollutants into the Animas 

and San Juan Rivers. Requiring EPA to enforce the CWA’s permitting requirements at these 

mining sources—fewer than 50 of which are within the BPMD—would not alter or delay EPA’s 

response action. Likewise, Utah’s CWA and RCRA claims seek cleanup of toxic wastes 

transported to Utah—which would have no conceivable impact on EPA’s work in Colorado. EPA 
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is not “already addressing this contamination”—it is uncontested that EPA is not conducting or 

planning to pursue any work within the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ territories. 

Second, both New Mexico and Utah have pled all the elements of a claim under the Clean 

Water Act’s governor’s suit provision, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(h). While EPA asserts that it enjoys total 

discretion in deciding whether to enforce the CWA, the mandatory language used in Section 

1365(h) speaks otherwise. Moreover, the relief sought—a court order requiring EPA to enforce 

the CWA’s permitting requirements at mining sources (New Mexico) and addressing the 

contamination in Utah—will remedy New Mexico’s and Utah’s injury by reducing discharges and 

remediating hazardous waste that are harming public health and water quality.  

Third, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have stated claims against EPA under the Comprehensive 

Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”). EPA wrongly argues 

that “well-settled law” bars any claims against it whenever it engages in a remedial action. Every 

Court of Appeal to consider EPA’s argument has flatly rejected it based on CERCLA’s plain 

language. The statute explicitly makes federal agencies liable when they conduct response actions 

negligently, as is alleged here. 42 U.S.C. § 9607(d)(1). In addition, the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege 

that EPA controlled operations at the Gold King Mine, made decisions regarding environmental 

compliance, arranged for disposal, treatment, and transport of hazardous substances there, and 

selected the site for disposal. These allegations are sufficient to state claims for operator, arranger, 

and transporter liability (any one of which is sufficient) under CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a). 

CERCLA treats EPA the same as any other responsible party. 

Fourth, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have stated tort claims against the United States pursuant 

to the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1346(a) (“FTCA”), and the United States is not entitled 

to the application of the discretionary function exception to FTCA liability. EPA’s discretion at 
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Gold King was constrained both by contractual duties it adopted, as well as mandatory and specific 

applicable regulations. And even if it were not, EPA’s decision to abandon the agreed-upon plan 

and charge into the mine without safety equipment and personnel present is not the sort of 

discretion the discretionary function exception is designed to protect. Finally, the Sovereign 

Plaintiffs have standing to pursue their damages under tort law, and the Court accordingly has 

jurisdiction over the claims. The Court should hold EPA accountable for its admitted responsibility 

for the blowout.1 

ARGUMENT 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(1) requires only that the pleading contain a short and plain statement 

of the grounds for the Court’s jurisdiction. A Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss for lack of subject 

matter jurisdiction may mount either a facial or factual attack. Holt v. United States, 46 F.3d 1000, 

1002 (10th Cir. 1995). In a facial attack, the Court reviews the sufficiency of the complaint, 

accepting all its allegations as true. Id. In a factual attack, the Court does not presume the 

complaint’s allegations are true and may accept other evidence. Id. at 1003. 

Similarly, Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) requires only that the pleading contain a short and plain 

statement of the claim showing entitlement to relief. To survive a motion to dismiss brought under 

Rule 12(b)(6), a plaintiff need allege “only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). Courts adjudicating Rule 

12(b)(6) motions “must accept all the well-pleaded allegations of the complaint as true and must 

construe them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.” Alvarado v. KOB-TV, L.L.C., 493 F.3d 

1210, 1215 (10th Cir. 2007).  

                                                 
1 To avoid redundancy, the Sovereign Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the Factual Background 
section of their Brief in Opposition to the Contractor Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, filed on 
August 24, 2018. Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 10(c). (See Doc. 58 at 4-9.) 
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I. The Court Has Jurisdiction Over New Mexico and Utah’s CWA and RCRA Claims. 

A. New Mexico and Utah’s CWA claims do not “challenge” EPA’s remedial 
action at the Bonita Peak Mining District. 

EPA argues that CERCLA bars CWA claims that interfere with its remedial action at the 

BPMD site in Colorado. But it carefully avoids the well-pled facts showing there is no interference.  

Congress enacted CERCLA Section 9613(h) to “protect[] the execution of a CERCLA plan during 

its pendency from lawsuits that might interfere with the expeditious cleanup effort.” McClellan 

Ecological Seepage Situation v. Perry, 47 F.3d 325, 329 (9th Cir. 1995) (emphasis omitted). But 

Congress did not intend to foreclose all lawsuits, only those that are “directly related to the goals 

of the cleanup itself.” See id. at 330. It was designed to prevent responsible parties from filing 

dilatory lawsuits which might slow down or prevent EPA’s cleanup actions. United States v. 

Colorado, 990 F.2d 1565, 1576 (10th Cir. 1993) (emphasis added). That is precisely what EPA is 

doing here. As a responsible party, EPA is using the Section 9613(h) bar to delay and evade legal 

and financial responsibility for the blowout.2  

EPA’s argument rests on a false premise. New Mexico and Utah do not plead that EPA’s 

management of the BPMD violates the CWA, RCRA, or any other federal environmental statute. 

And New Mexico and Utah have always supported—and certainly never sought to stay—EPA’s 

actions at the BPMD. New Mexico’s CWA claim focuses on EPA’s abdication of its non-

discretionary duty to enforce the CWA at inactive and abandoned mines, which threaten water 

quality in the Lower Animas and Upper San Juan Rivers. Utah’s CWA claim is directed at EPA’s 

failure to enforce the CWA by causing the blowout and thereby violating Utah’s water quality 

                                                 
2 EPA placed the BPMD on the NPL in September 2016—roughly four months after New Mexico 
brought its CWA claim and 13 months after the blowout. EPA is using the NPL designation to 
evade liability because it is now cleaning up BPMD. This raises a deeply problematic issue: may 
EPA use its authority to regulate and supervise cleanup activities at the BPMD to escape its liability 
as a responsible party? The Sovereign Plaintiffs submit that it may not. 
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requirements. EPA argues it is conducting response actions under CERCLA, but it is not 

conducting actions in Utah. Neither New Mexico nor Utah’s CWA claim challenges EPA’s 

activities at the BPMD and hence do not trigger CERCLA’s jurisdictional bar. 

The Federal Defendants rely upon inapposite and factually distinguishable cases. In Razore 

v. Tulalip Tribes of Wash., 66 F.3d 236 (9th Cir. 1995), the plaintiff alleged that the defendants’ 

management of the site violated the CWA and RCRA, and the plaintiff’s expert admitted that the 

claims could halt the cleanup for weeks. See id. at 239-240. In Boarhead Corp. v. Erickson, 923 

F.2d 1011 (3d Cir. 1991), the plaintiff sought to stay an EPA response action pending a 

determination whether property qualified for historic site status under the National Historic 

Preservation Act. Here, neither New Mexico nor Utah seeks to halt or stay EPA’s cleanup. 

New Mexico v. Gen. Elec. Co., 467 F. 3d 1223, 1249 (10th Cir. 2006) and Cannon v. Gates, 

538 F.3d 1328, 1332-22 (10th Cir. 2008) also do not support EPA. In General Electric Co., the 

New Mexico Attorney General sought natural resource damages for groundwater contamination 

in Albuquerque’s South Valley. Since the state’s lawsuit clearly called into question the efficacy 

of EPA’s remedial response plan in the South Valley, its claims constituted a challenge under 

Section 9613(h). The court also wrote that the State’s request for monetary damages would put 

responsible parties in the “unenviable position of being held liable for monetary damages because 

they are complying with an EPA-ordered remedy which [they would] have no power to alter 

without prior EPA approval.” Id. at 1250. Here, requiring EPA to enforce the NPDES permit 

program (which EPA was bound to do long before it began its actions at the BPMD) would not 

force the agency to comply with both federal and state directives. Thus, the conflict preemption 

concerns that drove the Tenth Circuit’s decision in General Electric are not present here. 
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In Cannon, the Tenth Circuit affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of a landowner’s RCRA 

claims. There, the government had released an engineering evaluation and cost analysis, which 

encompassed the plaintiff’s property and provided an estimate of the cost of a full-scale removal 

of hazardous materials. For that reason, the court held that the government’s efforts to “‘monitor, 

assess, and evaluate’ the hazardous substances on the Cannons’ land [] qualif[ied] as an ongoing 

removal action” subject to Section 9613(h). 538 F.3d at 1334. Because the plaintiffs “requested 

injunctive relief ordering remediation of their property,” the court reasoned that the suit would 

“undoubtedly interfere with the Government’s ongoing removal efforts.” Id. at 1335. But here 

Utah does not seek remediation of the BPMD site in Colorado, where all EPA’s ongoing efforts 

are located; instead, Utah seeks remediation of the San Juan River and Lake Powell in Utah. And 

New Mexico’s CWA claim does not require EPA to remediate any property at all; rather, New 

Mexico seeks to have EPA enforce the federal law over which it has ultimate authority, which 

would complement, not conflict with, any remedy EPA ultimately selects for the BPMD site. 3 

This case is much more similar to United States v. Colorado, 990 F.2d 1565 (10th Cir. 

1993), where the specific issue was: 

whether a state which has been authorized by the [EPA] to “carry out” the state’s 
hazardous waste program “in lieu of” RCRA . . . is precluded from doing so at a 
hazardous waste treatment, storage and disposal facility owned and operated by the 

                                                 
3 In fact, EPA’s position outside of this litigation is that CWA enforcement actions are not 
inherently incompatible with CERCLA cleanup actions and should be used in tandem to address 
complex issues associated with contaminated sites and connected waters. See EPA’s 
CWA/CERCLA Memorandum of Understanding for Regions, States, Tribes, and Other Federal 
Agencies, (Nov. 21, 2017) (“Work on a contaminated sediment site can raise complicated issues 
under both the [CWA] and [CERCLA]. Given that roles and responsibilities under both statutes 
often are shared by the [EPA], states, and federally-recognized Indian tribes, as well as other 
federal agencies … close collaboration with these governmental entities is crucial when addressing 
contaminated sediments and their associated waters.”) Available at: 
https://www.epa.gov/enforcement/cwacercla-site-specific-sample-memorandum-understanding. 
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federal government which the EPA has placed on the national priority list . . . and 
where a CERCLA response action is underway. 

Id. at 1568-9. On appeal, the court found held that “§ 9613(h) does not bar federal courts from 

reviewing a CERCLA response action prior to its completion; rather it bars federal courts from 

reviewing any ‘challenges’ to CERCLA response actions.” Id. at 1575. The court then found that 

the State of Colorado’s action to exercise its “EPA-delegated RCRA authority, [was] not a 

‘challenge’ to the Army’s CERCLA response action.” Id. 

The court also distinguished other cases where plaintiffs had sought to challenge ongoing 

CERCLA remedial actions. First, the court clarified that Colorado was not seeking to delay the 

CERCLA cleanup but was “merely seeking to ensure that the cleanup is in accordance with state 

laws which the EPA has authorized Colorado to enforce under RCRA.” Id. at 1576. Then, it 

distinguished Boarhead because there the plaintiff was a CERCLA responsible party and thus, 

“the plaintiff’s action to proceed would have been contrary to Congress’ express intent in enacting 

§ 9613(h).” Id. at 1577. Moreover, the court noted that “the plaintiff’s complaint in Boarhead 

sought to stay the CERCLA remedial action; thus, the plaintiff’s action under the Preservation Act 

clearly constituted a challenge to the CERCLA remedial action.” Id. 

Here, requiring EPA to enforce the CWA permitting regime for the many inactive or 

abandoned mines that discharge acid mine drainage and mining wastes into the Animas River 

Watershed (which is only partially encompassed by the BPMD) as sought by New Mexico would 

complement, not challenge, CERCLA’s remedial purpose. Indeed, permitting these mines under 

the NPDES program would be required even if the BPMD never had been created. Similarly, 

remediating the blowout’s contamination within Utah, where the contaminants ultimately come to 

rest, will complement, not challenge, EPA’s work at the BPMD. In short, relief under the CWA 

would neither alter how EPA monitors and assesses the extent of contamination nor hinder EPA’s 
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ability to choose the best remedial action at the BPMD. Accordingly, the Court should deny the 

Federal Defendants’ motion to dismiss New Mexico’s and Utah’s separate and distinct CWA 

claims based on Section 9613(h) of CERCLA. 

B. Utah’s RCRA claim does not “challenge” EPA’s remedial activities at the 
Bonita Peak Mining District. 

Federal Defendants argue this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over Utah’s RCRA 

claim, saying EPA is engaged in a removal action and diligently proceeding with a remedial action 

that precludes any such claims under RCRA. 42 U.S.C. §§ 6972(b)(2)(B)(ii), (iii). But they do not 

address the fact that no such actions are occurring or planned to address the contamination 

presently in Utah. (UT FAC ¶ 63.)4 Without that predicate, there can be no preclusion.  

Nor do Federal Defendants submit credible evidence to show EPA has engaged in remedial 

action in Utah—they simply argue without authority that if they conduct such action in Colorado, 

they have thereby begun an action wherever the pollution may end up, such as in Utah. Federal 

Defendants point to EPA’s designation of the BPMD Superfund NPL, and to various activities 

EPA has taken at that site, citing the Declaration of Rebecca Thomas and an EPA Action Memo.5  

                                                 
4 Where, as here, “the motion is resolved on declarations alone without an evidentiary hearing, the 
complaint’s factual allegations are accepted as true.” JUDGE BEVERLY REID O’CONNELL AND 

JUDGE KAREN L. STEVENSON, RUTTER GROUP PRAC. GUIDE FED. CIV. PROC. BEFORE TRIAL (NAT 

ED.) Ch. 9-D ¶ 9:86.1 (2018) (emphasis in original); citing Rhoades v. Avon Products, Inc., 504 
F.3d 1151, 1160 (9th Cir. 2007); McLachlan v. Bell, 261 F.3d 908, 909 (9th Cir. 2001). 
5 Ms. Thomas also refers to a study performed by a different and separate research and 
development branch at EPA, not the EPA Region 8 Superfund Remedial Program at BPMD. She 
then attempts to offer her legal opinion that this research is a response action under CERCLA, 
without citing legal authority. (Doc. 46-3 at ¶ 8.) Sovereign Plaintiffs object to the lack of 
foundation to make this unsupported legal conclusion, and move to strike this portion of her 
declaration. As her declaration makes clear, the Region 8 Superfund Remedial Program at BPMD 
has not performed a Preliminary Assessment and Site Investigation in Sovereign Plaintiffs’ 
territories, the first phase in commencing a remedial action (id. at ¶ 5). Nor has EPA commenced 
a Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study in Sovereign Plaintiffs’ territories.  
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(Mot. at 19-21.) But neither document refutes Utah’s allegation that no preclusive action plan has 

been selected, much less commenced, within Utah – EPA ignores the pleading in its motion. Those 

facts are both implicitly admitted by absence of any such plan in the Thomas Declaration, and 

confirmed by the Declaration of Brent H. Everett, Director of Utah’s Division of Environmental 

Response and Remediation, (Doc. 60). EPA’s current interim plan for the BPMD provides no 

remedial action in the State of Utah. (Everett Decl. at ¶¶ 2, 4.)6 EPA has provided no notice that it 

has commenced any removal or remedial action in Utah related to the blowout, nor is Utah aware 

of any plan or timetable for EPA to do so. (Id. at ¶¶ 4-5.) EPA further admits in its public 

statements that there is no removal or remedial action taking place in the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ 

territories. EPA’s most recent update for its remedial action which shows no current or future plans 

for remedial work outside of the BPMD site in Colorado. (See Request for Judicial Notice, filed 

concurrently herewith.) 

Utah’s RCRA claim also addresses the contamination released from the blowout, see 42 

U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(B), and EPA’s water treatment plant at the Gold King site does nothing to 

address the endangerment posed by this contamination that is already in Utah. Because EPA has 

not selected or commenced any removal or remedial action in Utah to address the contamination 

deposited there, this Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate Utah’s RCRA claim. 

II. New Mexico and Utah Have Stated Claims Under Section 1365(h). 

The Federal Defendants attack New Mexico’s and Utah’s CWA claims on three grounds. 

First, they contend that Section 1365(h) implicates EPA’s enforcement decisions, which are 

                                                 
6 EPA argues that Congress provided administrative remedies for the states to participate in its 
CERCLA response actions. Utah availed itself of this remedy to comment on EPA’s proposed 
remedial action—but EPA proposed no plan, investigation or other action for Utah. (See Doc. 60 
¶ 4.) If EPA were correct that no judicial remedy exists, it could delay its response actions in Utah 
forever by saying EPA is still thinking about it. 
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presumptively immune from judicial review under Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985). (Mot. 

at 22.) Second, they assert that neither New Mexico nor Utah has pled the elements of a Section 

1365(h) claim, which they characterize as requiring allegations of “an ongoing, unpermitted 

discharge of a pollutant by an identified person subject to EPA’s enforcement powers that is 

causing harm in New Mexico [and Utah].” (Id. at 26.) And third, they argue that the relief New 

Mexico and Utah seek is unavailable because the CWA does not oblige a duty on the Administrator 

to abate pollution “wherever it may be found.” (Id. at 27.) None of these arguments warrant 

dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), and the Court should deny the Motion. 

To begin, New Mexico’s and Utah’s allegations easily overcome the presumption against 

judicial review announced in Heckler: Section 1365(h) and Section 1319 (titled “Enforcement”) 

clearly confine EPA’s discretion to enforce the CWA’s permit requirements, which is precisely 

what the Sovereign Plaintiffs seek by bringing this claim. Next, New Mexico and Utah have pled 

every element of a Section 1365(h) claim. New Mexico alleges (1) ongoing or intermittent 

violations of a CWA effluent standard or limitation in Colorado by a person or persons; (2) which 

are adversely affecting the public health or welfare, or violating water quality standards in New 

Mexico; and (3) an alleged failure by the EPA Administrator to enforce the effluent standard or 

limitation. Utah alleges (1) EPA violated an effluent standard or limitation under the CWA by 

causing the Gold King Mine spill, (2) EPA failed to enforce that standard or limitation by causing 

the spill, and (3) that violation is causing a violation of any water quality requirement in Utah. 

Finally, a court order requiring EPA to abate the ongoing discharges in Colorado and 

contamination in Utah is a proper and feasible remedy because the CWA explicitly authorizes EPA 

to issue abatement and compliance orders against persons who violate the CWA. 
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A. Section 1365(h) expressly authorizes New Mexico and Utah to sue EPA for 
failing to enforce against ongoing violations in Colorado and Utah. 

Congress empowered states to sue EPA “where there is alleged a failure of the 

Administrator to enforce an effluent standard or limitation under this chapter the violation of which 

is occurring in another state and is causing an adverse effect on the public health or welfare in his 

State, or is causing a violation of any water quality requirement in his state.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(h).7 

Section 1365(h) is an unequivocal waiver of EPA’s immunity, which affords states a right to seek 

judicial relief when EPA fails to act against out-of-state CWA violations that are harming public 

health and welfare, or are violating water quality standards in their states.8 

A claim under Section 1365(h) requires three elements: (1) violations of a CWA effluent 

standard or limitation by a person or persons; (2) a failure by the EPA Administrator to enforce 

the effluent standard or limitation; and (3) the violation either (a) “is occurring in another State 

and is causing an adverse effect on the public health of welfare in his State,” or (b) “is causing a 

violation of any water quality requirement in his state.” Both New Mexico and Utah have alleged 

facts supporting all three elements. 

1. New Mexico has pled the elements of a Section 1365(h) claim. 

To establish element (1), New Mexico alleges that for many years, Colorado9 failed to issue 

permits for mining sources that discharged and continue to discharge acid mine drainage and 

                                                 
7 A violation of a CWA “effluent standard or limitation” includes the “discharge of any pollutant 
by any person” without a permit. See 33 U.S.C. §§ 1365(f), 1311(a).  
8 Federal Defendants observe that no state governor has ever sued EPA under Section 1365(h). 
But novelty is not a reason to dismiss any claim and it is certainly not the standard for dismissal 
under Rule 12(b)(6). To state a claim for which relief can be granted, a plaintiff need only plead a 
claim for relief that is plausible on its face. The plausibility of the allegations, not the novelty of 
underlying cause of action, is the measure by which New Mexico’s and Utah’s CWA claims must 
be judged at this stage of the litigation. 
9 Colorado is a “person” subject to the CWA and, consequently, EPA’s enforcement powers. See 
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mining wastes into the Animas River watershed. (NM FAC ¶¶ 6, 43, 52, 57, 62-71, 162.) Colorado 

also failed to enforce permits at other mine sites—most notably, the Gold King Mine. (Id. ¶¶ 6, 

43, 52, 57, 62-71, 162.) Further, Colorado failed to obtain permits when it performed reclamation 

activities at the Gold King Mine using forfeited reclamation bonds.10 (Id. ¶¶ 62-71.) That failure 

to enforce the CWA’s permitting system at these mining sites caused and still causes discharges 

of pollutants without a permit, thereby violating an “effluent standard or limitation.” 

To establish element (2), New Mexico alleges that EPA has been aware of Colorado’s 

failure to ensure that discharges from these mining sources meet the CWA’s effluent standards 

and limitations. (Id. ¶¶ 77-87.) Although EPA has delegated permitting authority to Colorado, EPA 

retains oversight authority over both individual permits and the general permitting process. EPA’s 

failure to exercise authority over these sites is a “failure to enforce” under Section 1365(h). 

To establish element (3)(a), New Mexico alleges that past and present discharges of 

wastewater and heavy metals from these mining sources have settled into the sediments of the 

                                                 
33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) (defining a “person” to include a “State”); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (defining a 
“person” as a “State or Federal agency”). 
10 Even if Colorado’s actions merely involved managing pollution caused by other entities, the 
CWA draws no distinction between those who add pollutants and those who facilitate or convey 
pollution caused by others. The CWA contains no exception for reclamation or remedial efforts 
and no causation requirement; instead, it bans “the discharge of any pollution by any person,” 
regardless of motive. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) (emphasis added). The CWA is indifferent to the 
originator of water pollution. And the CWA’s regulations state that it is the current operator of a 
mine site—rather than the initial owner—who must obtain a permit. See 40 C.F.R. § 122.21(b) 
(“When a facility or activity is owned by one person but is operated by another person, it is the 
operator’s duty to obtain a permit.”). These provisions confirm that where, as here, a mine owner 
generates pollution but then abandons control of the site, the subsequent operator—whether a 
regulator or a private party—is responsible for obtaining a permit. See W. Va. Highlands 
Conservancy, Inc. v. Huffman, 625 F.3d 159, 166 (4th Cir. 2010) (rejecting the argument that a 
state entity’s reclamation activity is an exercise of regulatory authority that makes it immune from 
liability under the CWA); S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Tribe of Indians, 541 U.S. 95, 
105 (2004) (holding state agency liable for violating the CWA); Comm. to Save Mokelumne River 
v. E. Bay Mun. Util. Dist., 13 F.3d 305, 309 (9th Cir. 1993) (same). 
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Animas and San Juan Rivers, as well as in Lake Powell. (NM FAC ¶ 116.) Yet high flow events 

caused by storms, and the annual spring runoff from Colorado, will re-release, re-suspend, and re-

mobilize these contaminants, thereby creating new threats to public health and welfare and further 

impairing water quality in New Mexico. (Id. ¶ 116.) 

2. Utah has pled the elements of a Section 1365(h) claim. 

To establish element (1), Utah alleges that the August 5, 2015, blowout from the Gold King 

Mine was itself a violation of a CWA effluent standard or limitation. (UT FAC ¶¶ 127-128.) 

Indeed, no CWA permit would ever sanction dumping 3,000,000 gallons of pollutants into a river. 

To establish element (2), Utah alleges that EPA has failed to enforce a CWA effluent standard or 

limitation by causing the August 5, 2015 blowout. (Id. ¶ 128.) To establish element 3(b), Utah 

alleges that the mining waste and heavy metals released from the blowout have deposited in Lake 

Powell and violated Utah’s water quality standards. (Id.) When New Mexico’s and Utah’s 

allegations are presumed to be true, both states have alleged “enough facts to state a claim to relief 

that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp., 550 U.S. at 570. 

B. The Federal Defendants improperly conflate a Governor’s civil action under 
Section 1365(h) with a private citizen suit under Section 1365(a). 

Section 1365(h) reflects Congress’ desire to give state governors a means to compel EPA 

action against CWA violations by out-of-state sources whose discharges are threatening public 

health and welfare, or are violating water quality standards in plaintiff governors’ states. Indeed, 

the CWA provides at least two separate savings clauses preserving States’ ability to enforce their 

water quality standards against EPA. First, Section 1370 entitled “State authority,” provides: 

nothing in this chapter shall (1) preclude or deny the right of any State or political 
subdivision thereof . . . to adopt or enforce (A) any standard or limitation respecting 
discharges of pollutants, or (B) any requirement respecting control or abatement of 
pollution; . . . or (2) be construed as impairing or in any manner affecting any right 
or jurisdiction of the States with respect to the waters (including boundary waters) 
of such States. 
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33 U.S.C. § 1370. Section 1365(e), entitled “Statutory or common law rights not restricted,” 

provides: “Nothing in this section shall restrict any right which any person (or class of persons) 

may have under any statute or common law to seek enforcement of any effluent standard or 

limitation or to seek any other relief (including relief against the Administrator or a State agency).” 

Id. at § 1365(e). 

But instead of addressing the statutory language, the Federal Defendants argue that Section 

1365(h) implicates EPA’s enforcement decisions, and that those decisions are presumptively non-

reviewable under Heckler. (See Mot. at 22-25.) At the same time, they ignore cases where courts 

concluded that EPA has a mandatory duty to enforce the Act where, as here, a government’s failure 

to properly administer the NPDES program resulted in widespread CWA violations. See e.g., Save 

the Valley, Inc. v. U.S. EPA, 99 F. Supp. 2d 981 (S.D. Ind. 2000); South Carolina Wildlife Fed’n 

v. Alexander, 457 F. Supp. 118, 134 (D.S.C. 1978). And none of the cases cited in the Federal 

Defendants’ motion address whether EPA has a duty to bring enforcement actions or sanction its 

employees and contractors whose actions at the Gold King Mine violated the CWA. The Federal 

Defendants claim that such an enforcement action would undermine the unity of the executive 

branch (Mot. at 27), but if that were true, then “constitutional problems” would arise whenever 

EPA and the Department of Defense carry out corrective and remedial actions at federal facilities. 

The language and structure of the CWA’s citizen suit provisions provide other reasons to 

reject a superficial analogy between Section 1365(h) and Section 1365(a). Section 1365(a)(2) 

states that a citizen may sue EPA based on the Administrator’s failure to perform a “non-

discretionary” duty—raising the question of which duties are discretionary and subject to 

Heckler’s strictures. Since Section 1365(h) expressly authorizes suit based on EPA’s “failure to 
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enforce,” there is no question that EPA may be compelled to enforce the CWA’s permitting 

requirements against out-of-state sources that discharge pollutants into downstream states. 

Section 1365(h) also waives the 60-day notice requirement for private citizen suits under 

1365(a)(1) and (a)(2), which strongly suggests that Congress wanted states to have a speedy 

remedy for CWA violations beyond their borders. The Supreme Court has observed that pre-suit 

notice is designed to supplement, not supplant, government enforcement action by providing EPA 

the first opportunity to compel compliance, thus eliminating the need for private enforcement. See 

Gwaltney of Smithfield Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 60-61 (1989). And, if 

EPA or a state decides not to enforce the CWA after receiving notice, then a private citizen may 

still sue the alleged violator directly under Section 1365(a)(1). 

Section 1365(h), by contrast, envisions that EPA—and only EPA—will enforce the CWA 

against an out-of-state violator, albeit at a state governor’s prompting. Hence, EPA non-

enforcement is not, as the Federal Defendants argue, an impediment to a Section 1365(h) claim; it 

is an essential element of the claim. To conflate a private citizen suit with a governor’s civil action 

would make Section 1365(h) superfluous. And saying that a Section 1365(h) claim is immune 

from judicial review because it is based on EPA’s “failure to enforce” leaves this cause of action 

toothless and inoperative. To the contrary, courts must “give effect, if possible, to every clause and 

word of a statute.” Montclair v. Ramsdell, 107 U.S. 147, 152 (1883); King v. Burwell, 135 S Ct. 

2480, 2498 (2015) (“[T]he rule against treating [a term] as a nullity is as close to absolute as 

interpretive principles get.”). 

Finally, EPA argues that Utah’s CWA claim is barred because it does not seek to enjoin an 

on-going violation as required under Section 1365(a). It ignores the different statutory language 

under Section 1365(h) which provides two alternative ways for a Governor to bring suit against 
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the Administrator, one of which as alleged by Utah does not require an ongoing release—just a 

violation at some point in time, a failure to enforce, and an ongoing violation of a water quality 

requirement. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(h) (“where there is alleged a failure of the Administrator to enforce 

an effluent standard or limitation under this chapter the violation of which . . . is causing a violation 

of any water quality requirement in his state.”). None of EPA’s cases require an on-going violation 

to establish Utah’s cause of action under Section 1365(h).  

C. Because EPA’s duty to enforce under Section 1365(h) is not committed to its 
discretion, Heckler v. Chaney’s presumption does not apply. 

Heckler does not apply to a Section 1365(h) claim because the CWA provides “guidelines 

for [EPA] to follow in exercising its enforcement powers” sufficient to rebut the presumption of 

non-reviewability. 470 U.S. at 831-32. First, because EPA’s failure to enforce the CWA is a 

prerequisite of a Section 1365(h) claim, Congress plainly “inten[ded] to circumscribe [EPA’s] 

enforcement discretion.” Id. at 834-35.11 And second, the terms “effluent standard or limitation” 

and “failure to enforce,” plus the CWA’s enforcement provisions, provide “meaningful standards 

for defining the limits of that discretion.” Id. 

The CWA defines a “violation of an effluent standard or limitation” as “the discharge of 

any pollutant by any person without a permit,” and it is axiomatic that any person who discharges 

a pollutant without a permit is subject to EPA’s enforcement powers. Further, the CWA’s main 

enforcement provision, Section 1319, is replete with mandatory language. Section 1319(a)(2), in 

particular, is instructive given the nature of New Mexico’s allegations, as it requires the 

Administrator to notify a state after receiving information of widespread problems in the state’s 

enforcement of its NPDES permit program (“ . . . the Administrator shall so notify the State.”) 

                                                 
11 The Federal Defendants do, in fact, concede that Section 1365(h) “indicates an intent to 
circumscribe EPA’s enforcement discretion.” (Mot. at 23.) 
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(emphasis added).12 This notification starts a process by which the Administrator “shall” inform 

the public if the state does not bring its program into compliance with CWA standards by enforcing 

permit conditions and limitations. And, once public notice is given, the Administrator “shall” 

enforce the permit conditions until the State remedies its problems. Section 309(a)(2) thus imposes 

a series of mandatory enforcement duties on EPA when sources discharging pollutants without a 

permit are not being adequately addressed by a state.13 

Heckler is not controlling for other reasons as well. To begin, because agency actions are 

presumed to be reviewable; see Dunlop v. Bachowski, 421 U.S. 56 (1975), and Citizens to Preserve 

Overton Park v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 410 (1971); Heckler’s presumption against review remains 

a “narrow one.” 470 U.S. 821 at 838. Since the CWA describes EPA’s role in mandatory terms, it 

closely resembles the statute discussed in Dunlop, which the Heckler court distinguished as an 

                                                 
12 “The Supreme Court and the Tenth Circuit teach that when a statute uses the word ‘shall,’ 
Congress has imposed a mandatory duty upon the subject of the command.” Forest Guardians v. 
Babbitt, 174 F.3d 1178, 1187 (10th Cir. 1999) (citing United States v. Monsanto, 491 U.S. 600, 
607 (1989) (by using “shall” in civil forfeiture statute, “Congress could not have chosen stronger 
words to express its intent that forfeiture be mandatory in cases where the statute applied”)). 
13 Many federal courts have concluded that the Administrator has a mandatory duty to conduct 
enforcement proceedings under Section 1319(a)(2). See, e.g., Save the Valley, Inc. v. U.S. EPA, 99 
F. Supp. 2d 981, 985 (S.D. Ind. 2000) (Administrator has a mandatory duty under 33 U.S.C. § 
1319 to conduct enforcement proceedings. Any contrary would frustrate Congress’ intent for 
enforcement of the CWA by the Administrator’s refusing to make the requisite finding or 
determination); S.C. Wildlife Fed’n v. Alexander, 457 F. Supp 118, 134 (D.S.C. 1978) (Pursuant 
to 33 U.S.C. § 1319, Administrator has a mandatory duty to issue a compliance order or file a civil 
action and federal courts can compel the administrator to make the requisite finding, be it positive 
or negative); Rivers Unlimited v. Costle, 11 Env’t Rep. Case (BNA) (S.D. Ohio 1978) (33 U.S.C. 
§ 1319 imposed a mandatory duty on the part of the Administrator to initiate enforcement 
proceedings); People v. State of Illinois v. Hoffman, 425 F. Supp. 71, 77 (S.D. Ill. 1977) (33 U.S.C. 
§ 1319 compels Administrator to take appropriate action when a violation exists); United States v. 
Phelps Dodge Corp., 391 F. Supp. 1181, 1184 (D. Ariz. 1975) (33 U.S.C. § 1319 imposes a 
mandatory duty on the Administrator to issue an abatement order.) 
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example of statutory language that imposed sufficient standards to rebut the presumption. See 

Heckler, 470 U.S. at 833-34.14  

The Heckler Court also observed that an agency might adopt a policy not to pursue 

violations, which would “amount to an abdication of its statutory responsibilities,” and thus not be 

“committed to agency discretion.” 470 U.S. at 833 n.4. (citing Adams v. Richardson, 480 F.2d 

1159 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (invalidating an agency’s wholesale refusal to implement a civil right statute 

over a long period of time). Here, New Mexico alleges that EPA has effectively renounced its duty 

to ensure that discharges from abandoned and inactive mines comply with CWA standards, despite 

Colorado’s failure to do so. EPA’s position that neither EPA nor Colorado need to enforce the 

CWA as to these mining sources or the resulting pollution is tantamount to a policy of non-

enforcement, which the Court in Heckler said would be subject to judicial review. 

Finally, the FDA’s decision-making process in Heckler bears little resemblance to EPA’s 

behavior in this case. In Heckler, the FDA made an affirmative decision not to exercise its 

enforcement authority. 470 U.S. 821 at 828 (observing that the case “turns on the important 

question of the extent to which determinations by the FDA not to exercise its enforcement 

authority”). Similarly, Amigos Bravos v. EPA involved a “challenge to the Administrator’s 

decision to reissue Molycorp’s permit without regulating [] discharges” of pollutants from waste 

rock piles. 324 F.3d. 1166, 1169 (10th Cir. 2003).15 Here, New Mexico and Utah do not allege that 

                                                 
14 The CWA’s language also distinguishes this case from Heckler, where the FDCA’s 
“enforcement provisions . . . commit[ed] complete discretion to the Secretary to decide how and 
when they should be exercised.” 470 U.S. at 835.  
15 In Amigos Bravos v. EPA, 324 F.3d 1166 (10th Cir. 2003), the Tenth Circuit held that similar 
language in a different provision of the CWA’s enforcement section, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(3), 
creates a discretionary duty. Section 1319(a)(3) is similar to section 1319(a)(2) except that it deals 
with individual—as opposed to widespread—violations of the CWA. Citizens may bring suit 
against individual polluters who violate the CWA, but when violations are so widespread that they 
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type of particularized, enforcement decision. Instead, New Mexico alleges that neither EPA nor 

Colorado has required, issued, or obtained any permits at all for hundreds of discharging mining 

sources, and Utah alleges EPA has not decided whether to abate the resulting pollution in the 

Sovereign Plaintiffs’ territories. This case does not involve selective or ineffective agency 

enforcement; it involves total non-enforcement. Heckler and its progeny are inapposite. 

D. New Mexico and Utah have standing to bring a Section 1365(h) claim. 

To establish standing to bring suit, a plaintiff must prove: (1) a concrete, particularized 

injury in fact; (2) a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of; and (3) 

that the injury is likely to be redressed by a decision in the plaintiff's favor. Lujan v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). The Federal Defendants argue (in a footnote) that New Mexico 

and Utah lack standing under Article III to bring a Section 1365(h). (Mot. at 26 n.10.) While the 

Federal Defendants do not clearly explain which element (or elements) of Article III standing is 

missing, EPA previously argued that New Mexico failed to “fulfill[] the third prong because it has 

not shown that this court can redress its alleged injury.” (Case No. 16-465 Doc. 126, at 23.) EPA 

also claimed that to “compel EPA to generally reduce water pollution from an uncertain number 

of unspecified Colorado mines” and to “[i]dentify and remediat[e] hundreds of sources of pollution 

across an entire watershed is a vast and technically complex undertaking . . . .” (Id.) 

Those redressability arguments were overstated then, and remain so now. The relief New 

Mexico requests would require a single EPA office (Region 8) to perform a single statutorily-

mandated duty—to ensure that Colorado enforces the NPDES program in a single geographic area. 

                                                 
appear to result from a State's failure to enforce its permit program, a citizen’s only recourse is to 
sue the Administrator to force him to perform his enforcement duties under the Act. The Tenth 
Circuit has never addressed whether EPA’s duties with respect to 1319(a)(2) are non-discretionary, 
and the Federal Defendants have made no attempt to show that the Administrator’s duties under 
§ 1319(a)(3) are identical to his duties under § 1319(a)(2). 
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Likewise, Utah seeks only to have EPA Region 8 commence work to abate pollution in Utah 

resulting from the blowout. New Mexico and Utah have also alleged injuries that are traceable to 

EPA’s actions, not actions of third parties. By alleging that the public health, environment, and the 

quality of waters in New Mexico and Utah have been damaged by EPA’s failure to enforce the 

NPDES program at inactive and abandoned mines in the Animas River watershed, their injuries 

are directly traceable to EPA.  

III. The Sovereign Plaintiffs Have Stated CERCLA Claims. 

EPA argues that the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ CERCLA claims should be dismissed for two 

reasons: because EPA retains sovereign immunity against claims related to response actions, and 

because EPA cannot be an operator, arranger, or transporter under the CERCLA statute. EPA is 

wrong on both counts. First, CERCLA waives the federal government’s sovereign immunity with 

respect to contamination caused by negligent response actions. EPA’s argument to the contrary 

lacks support in CERCLA itself and in modern case law. See infra Section III.A. And second, 

Sovereign Plaintiffs have properly alleged that EPA controlled operations at Gold King, took 

intentional steps to dispose of hazardous waste, and selected the site for that disposal. See infra 

Section III.B. As a result, the Court has jurisdiction over Sovereign Plaintiffs’ CERCLA claims, 

which state valid claims against EPA as an operator, arranger, and transporter. EPA’s motion to 

dismiss the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ CERCLA claims should be denied. 

A. CERCLA waives EPA’s sovereign immunity for negligence in the course of a 
response action. 

Section 9620(a)(1) of CERCLA broadly waives the federal government’s sovereign 

immunity “in the same manner and to the same extent, both procedurally and substantively, as any 

nongovernmental entity, including liability under section 9607.” 42 U.S.C. § 9620(a)(1); United 

States v. Shell Oil Co., 294 F.3d 1045, 1052 (9th Cir. 2002) (“The Supreme Court has read the 

Case 1:18-md-02824-WJ   Document 61   Filed 08/31/18   Page 36 of 89



 

 
- 21 - 

 

language of § 9620(a)(1) as an unambiguous waiver of the sovereign immunity of the United 

States.”). While EPA acknowledges that this provision means “a federal agency may be liable” 

under CERCLA, it nevertheless contends that when it “undertakes actions pursuant to CERCLA 

section 9604(a)(1) in response to a release of hazardous substances caused by others, it ‘does not 

subject itself to liability under section 9607(a).’” (Mot. at 29 (citing In re Paoli R.R. Yard PCB 

Litig., 790 F. Supp. 94, 97 (E.D. Pa. 1992)).) This argument disregards the plain language of 

CERCLA, ignores the holdings of the only three circuit courts to have addressed the issue, and 

distorts the decades-old district court cases on which it relies.  

1. CERCLA does not grant the EPA blanket remedial immunity. 

Despite CERCLA’s unambiguous waiver of the United States’ sovereign immunity, 

Federal Defendants first argue that EPA can never be subject to CERCLA liability when it acts “in 

response to a release of hazardous substances caused by others,” or when it is otherwise engaged 

in “cleanup activities” because it is not “acting like a private party.” (Mot. at 29, 31.) This argument 

for blanket remedial immunity has no basis in CERCLA’s text, which “does not on its face suggest 

a distinction between the exercise of private . . . and regulatory powers.” E. Bay Mun. Util. Dist. 

v. U.S. Dep’t of Commerce, 142 F.3d 479, 482 (D.C. Cir. 1998). Accordingly, all three circuit 

courts to consider blanket remedial immunity under CERCLA have rejected it. See id.; Shell Oil, 

294 F.3d at 1053 (“[T]he United States has repeatedly been held liable under CERCLA for acts 

that cannot possibly be characterized as ‘nongovernmental.’”); FMC Corp. v. U.S. Dep’t of 

Commerce, 29 F.3d 833, 839–40 (3d Cir. 1994) (“[W]e think the distinction the government is 

trying to draw between regulatory and non-regulatory activities misreads CERCLA and the case 

law . . . [W]hen the government engages in activities that would make a private party liable if the 

private party engaged in those types of activities, then the government is also liable. This is true 

even if no private party could in fact engage in those specific activities.”) (emphasis in original). 
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Simply stated, CERCLA’s “statutory scheme suggests rather powerfully that there is no 

overarching, unexpressed remedial immunity for state or federal agencies.” United States v. Iron 

Mountain Mines, Inc., 881 F. Supp. 1432, 1444 (E.D. Cal. 1995). 

In an attempt to circumvent the settled law rejecting blanket remedial immunity, EPA sets 

out to fashion a slightly narrower rule: that the government should retain sovereign immunity when 

“its sole connection to the site” is a CERCLA cleanup action. (Mot. at 30 (emphasis in original).)16 

But like a blanket rule of remedial immunity, this rule has no basis in CERCLA’s language or in 

case law decided since the Third Circuit’s decision in FMC. 

2. EPA’s proposed immunity rule is contrary to CERCLA’s text. 

CERCLA’s sovereign immunity waiver, 42 U.S.C. § 9620(a)(1), is conspicuously broad, 

rendering the federal government liable whenever it does anything that would render anyone else 

liable under CERCLA. Yet EPA urges the Court to treat the federal government and non-

governmental parties differently when it comes to response actions. There is no basis for 

abandoning the statutory text in this way, particularly because CERCLA announces a clear rule of 

liability for parties who—like EPA in this case—conduct response actions that lead to 

contamination. CERCLA does not preclude liability for such entities; instead, the statute—which 

ordinarily imposes strict liability—limits liability for entities engaged in cleanup actions so they 

are liable only for their negligence. Specifically, section 9607(d)(1) states:  

                                                 
16 EPA fashions this rule based on a mistaken factual premise: that “Plaintiffs do not allege that 
EPA’s involvement at Gold King was for any purpose other than to respond to releases from the 
mine as part of a site investigation.” (Mot. at 31.) Not so. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints 
allege that EPA’s involvement in the Upper Animas Watershed long predates the Release. (E.g., 
NN FAC ¶¶ 58-60 (alleging that EPA conducted a “site assessment” of the Upper Animas 
Watershed in the 1990s, conducted further assessments in 2008, and agreed to “fund mine 
reclamation efforts in the area”); NM FAC ¶¶ 72-74 (describing a 2010 EPA investigation of the 
Red and Bonita Mine).) The Sovereign Plaintiffs are entitled to discovery on the precise extent of 
EPA’s involvement at Gold King. 
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[N]o person shall be liable . . . for costs or damages as a result of actions taken or 
omitted in the course of rendering care, assistance, or advice in accordance with the 
National Contingency Plan (“NCP”) or at the direction of an onscene coordinator 
appointed under such plan, with respect to an incident creating a danger to public 
health or welfare or the environment as a result of any releases of a hazardous 
substance or the threat thereof. This paragraph shall not preclude liability for costs 
or damages as the result of negligence on the part of such person. 

42 U.S.C. § 9607(d)(1) (emphasis added); see Iron Mountain Mines, 881 F. Supp. at 1443 (holding 

that section 9607(d)(1) “expressly addresses the liability of those who act in a remedial capacity”). 

This provision leaves the federal government, like any other party, “liable for its own negligence,” 

even when it is acting solely in a cleanup capacity. Iron Mountain Mines, 881 F. Supp. at 1444; 

accord Shell Oil, 294 F.3d at 1053-54 (“[Section] 9607(d)(1) confers a defense upon parties ‘for 

costs or damages as a result of actions taken or omitted in the course of rendering care, assistance, 

or advice in accordance with the National Contingency Plan,’ unless such actions are negligent.”); 

E. Bay Mun. Util. Dist., 142 F.3d at 483 (“[Section] 9607(d)(1) of the Act confers a defense on ‘all 

persons’ ‘for costs or damages as a result of actions taken or omitted in the course of rendering 

care, assistance, or advice in accordance with the National Contingency Plan,’ but does ‘not 

preclude liability for costs or damages as the result of negligence.’”); see also FMC, 29 F.3d at 

841 (“[O]ur reading comports with the rest of CERCLA because section 107(b), 42 U.S.C. 

§ 9607(b), lists the only three defenses to section 107 liability available to any person, including 

the government. These enumerated defenses do not include the ‘regulatory’ exception which the 

government seeks to create and on which it relies.” (internal citation omitted)).  This reading of 

section 9607(d)(1) also comports with section 9619(a)(2), which makes response action 

contractors liable for negligence even when their sole connection to the site is a CERCLA cleanup 

action. 42 U.S.C. § 9619(a)(1). 

Congress has also shown that it knows how to shield governmental entities from liability 

for cleanups when it wants to do so. Section 9607(d)(2) limits liability for state and local 
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governments—though not the federal government—who cause contamination through response 

actions, leaving those entities liable only for their recklessness or gross negligence: 

No State or local government shall be liable under this subchapter for costs or 
damages as a result of actions taken in response to an emergency created by the 
release or threatened release of a hazardous substance generated by or from a 
facility owned by another person. This paragraph shall not preclude liability for 
costs or damages as a result of gross negligence or intentional misconduct by the 
State or local government. For the purpose of the preceding sentence, reckless, 
willful, or wanton misconduct shall constitute gross negligence. 

42 U.S.C. § 9607(d)(2) (emphasis added); Shell Oil, 294 F.3d at 1054. As the Iron Mountain Mines 

court explained, these limitations on liability would be “unnecessary” and “in conflict with . . . 

immunity” if CERCLA in fact intended to provide governmental agencies with an “unexpressed, 

residual immunity . . . when they act in a regulatory or remedial capacity.” 881 F. Supp. at 1444; 

see also E. Bay Mun. Util. Dist., 142 F.3d at 484 (“CERCLA abrogates state and local government 

immunity in terms virtually identical to the waiver of federal immunity, see 42 U.S.C. § 

9601(20)(D), so the exclusion of liability for emergency remediation efforts seems to imply a 

background assumption that the waiver would otherwise extend to such a typical governmental 

activity.”). 

Rather than attempt to square its proposed “sole connection” rule with §§ 9607(d)(1) and 

(d)(2), EPA ignores those provisions entirely—despite the Sovereign Plaintiffs having raised them 

many times in this litigation. Instead, EPA falls back on insisting that the Court should adopt its 

rule because sovereign immunity waivers are to be “strictly construed.” (Mot. at 30.) But reading 

imaginary carve-outs into § 9620(a)(1) is not strictly construing that provision; it is disregarding 

it entirely. “Congress could have easily included a regulatory exception to the broad waiver of 

sovereign immunity contained in CERCLA,” but it chose not to do so. Nu-West Mining Inc. v. 

United States, 768 F. Supp. 2d 1082, 1089 (D. Idaho 2011). And reading such an exception in to 

§ 9620(a)(1) violates basic rules of statutory construction. Conn. Nat’l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 
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249, 253-54 (1992) (“We have stated time and again that courts must presume that a legislature 

says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there.”); see also E. Bay. Mun. 

Util. Dist., 142 F.3d at 484 (explaining that the Supreme Court would be unlikely to find that 

§ 9620(a)(1) is “hedged by unwritten exceptions”). At bottom, CERCLA says that private parties 

can be liable for negligence in the course of a response action, and it says that the federal 

government is to be treated like private parties for purposes of liability. 42 U.S.C. §§ 9607(d)(1), 

9619(a)(1), 9620(a)(1). Here, because the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA was negligent, 

reckless, and grossly negligent, (e.g., NN FAC ¶¶ 1, 8, 10, 101-107, 121, 125, 153-56, 172-83; 

NM FAC ¶¶ 1, 4, 95-99, 104-05, 110, 205; UT FAC ¶¶ 3, 39-58, 81-88), the Sovereign Plaintiffs 

have alleged that EPA is subject to liability under either § 9607(d)(1) or § 9607(d)(2). 

Accordingly, pursuant to the plain language of CERCLA, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction 

over the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ CERCLA claims. 

3. The relevant case law rejects EPA’s proposed immunity rule. 

Finding no support in CERCLA itself, EPA wrongly asserts that “[e]very reported district 

court case to address CERCLA’s waiver of sovereign immunity, 42 U.S.C. § 9620(a)(1), under 

similar factual circumstances has held that EPA retains immunity when EPA’s sole involvement 

at the site consists of actions taken under CERCLA section 9604 to respond to releases caused by 

others.” (Mot. at 28 (emphasis in original); see also id. at 31 (collecting cases).) But every one of 

the eight district court decisions EPA cites was decided before the Third Circuit’s 1994 decision 

in FMC (as well as the D.C. Circuit’s 1998 decision in East Bay and the Ninth Circuit’s 2002 

decision in Shell Oil). And every one of EPA’s district court cases adopts not EPA’s proposed 

“sole connection” rule, but blanket regulatory immunity, which has been rejected by all three 

circuit courts to consider it. See United States v. Azrael, 765 F. Supp. 1239, 1244-45 (D. Md. 1991) 

(holding that sovereign immunity is not waived for contribution counterclaims when the United 
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States is involved in “regulatory and cleanup activities”); United States v. W. Processing Co., 761 

F. Supp. 725, 729-30 (W.D. Wash. 1991) (holding there is no waiver of sovereign immunity “with 

respect to contribution claims based on EPA’s regulatory activities”); United States v. Am. Color 

& Chem. Corp., 858 F. Supp. 445, 449 (M.D. Pa. 1994) (“The federal government’s sovereign 

immunity remains intact when it is acting in a regulatory capacity.”); Richland-Lexington Airport 

Dist. v. Atlas Properties, Inc., 854 F. Supp. 400, 414 (D.S.C. 1994) (“The case law further reveals 

that liability does not attach where, as here, EPA is engaged in clean-up activity in a regulatory 

capacity.”); United States v. Atlas Minerals & Chemicals, Inc., 797 F. Supp. 411, 421 (E.D. Pa. 

1992) (“The reason that the waiver found in § 9620 does not extend to response or remedial actions 

undertaken by EPA is that, when EPA undertakes such actions, it is not acting like a private 

party[.]”); In re Paoli R.R. Yard, 790 F. Supp. at 97 (“EPA’s contact with the Paoli Rail Yard was 

in a regulatory and remedial capacity. The United States does not subject itself to liability under 

section 107(a) of CERCLA when it is engaged in clean-up activities at a hazardous waste site.”); 

B.R. MacKay & Sons, Inc. v. United States, 633 F. Supp. 1290, 1296 n.9 (D. Utah 1986) (refusing 

to read CERCLA to allow claims against the United States for breaches in carrying out cleanups); 

United States v. Hardage, No. Civ-86-1401-P, 1989 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17236, at *2-3 (W.D. Okla. 

Nov. 22, 1989) (refusing to find a waiver of sovereign immunity for contribution counterclaims 

arising out of EPA’s cleanup activities because it “would circumvent CERCLA’s carefully limited 

waiver of sovereign immunity”). These erroneous pre-FMC district court decisions cannot be 

relied on as modern support for EPA’s proposed rule. 

Moreover, none of the eight district court decisions EPA cites arose “under similar factual 

circumstances,” as EPA asserts. (Mot. at 28.) Unlike this case, each of those cases involved claims 

brought by a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) seeking to limit its own liability for 
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contamination it caused and which EPA attempted to clean up. Accordingly, those courts were 

concerned that (a) permitting claims against EPA by polluting PRPs would undermine CERCLA’s 

goal of forcing responsible parties to internalize the costs of pollution, and (b) contribution 

counterclaims would create a novel CERCLA defense outside of the defenses Congress 

enumerated. E.g., Azrael, 765 F. Supp. at 1245; W. Processing, 761 F. Supp. at 728-29; In re Paoli 

R.R. Yard, 790 F. Supp. at 97; Atlas Minerals, 797 F. Supp. at 415, 419; Am. Color Chem. Corp., 

858 F. Supp. at 449-50; Hardage, 1989 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17236, at *4-5.17 

The policy concerns that animated the district court cases EPA relies upon are not present 

here because EPA (and others)—not the Sovereign Plaintiffs—caused the contamination at issue. 

(E.g., NN FAC ¶ 103; NM FAC ¶¶ 1, 4; UT FAC ¶¶ 59, 74.) Accordingly, the Sovereign Plaintiffs 

are not seeking contribution or a defense to their own CERCLA liability (they have no such 

liability), but past and future response costs for damages EPA (and others) caused. See FMC, 29 

F.3d at 840-41 (“[I]f the United States, even as a regulator, operates a hazardous waste facility or 

arranges for the treatment or disposal of hazardous wastes, it should be held responsible for cleanup 

costs, just as any private business would be, so that it will internalize the full costs that hazardous 

substances impose on society and on the environment.” (internal citations omitted)). There is no 

sound policy reason to force the Sovereign Plaintiffs, who did not cause the blowout, to bear the 

costs of EPA’s negligence. 

                                                 
17 Richland-Lexington Airport Dist. and B.R. MacKay also did not involve “similar factual 
circumstances” but involved PRPs bringing claims against EPA. B.R. MacKay was a declaratory 
judgment action brought by a PRP seeking a declaration of non-liability for costs EPA incurred 
in cleanup of cyanide-treated “film chips” created by the PRP’s company. 633 F. Supp. at 1291-
92. Richland-Lexington also involved a PRP bringing suit against EPA. 854 F. Supp. at 406. The 
court entered summary judgment for EPA based entirely on the blanket regulatory immunity that 
has since been rejected. See id. at 414. Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs are not PRPs and have not 
contributed to the contamination in any way. Rather, EPA is the responsible party.  
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Finally, with no recent authority to support it, EPA argues that FMC actually “confirmed 

that CERCLA section 9620(a)(1) does not waive EPA’s immunity for response actions when such 

actions are EPA’s sole connection to the site.” (Mot. at 30 (emphasis in original) (citing FMC, 29 

F.3d at 841-42).) The FMC Court did state, in dicta, that it did “not think that CERCLA’s ‘essential 

purpose’ . . . is served by making the government liable for attempting to clean up wastes created 

by others.” FMC, 29 F.3d at 841. But it then went on to say—again, in dicta—not that the federal 

government should be immune from CERCLA liability for botched cleanups, but that it should be 

treated like a state or federal government under § 9607(d)(2)—i.e., that it should be liable only for 

recklessness and gross negligence. Id. There are good reasons to doubt that this is the correct 

reading of § 9607(d)(2). See id. at 848 n.2 (Sloviter, J., dissenting) (explaining that “Congress has 

treated federal and state governments differently throughout the statute’s existence” and that 

§ 9607(d)(2) contains “explicit provisions to protect state and local governments (but not the 

federal government)” from certain liabilities); Iron Mountain Mines, 881 F. Supp. at 1443-44 

(explaining the “special standard of liability for state and local governments” under § 9607(d)(2) 

and noting there “is no comparable provision for the federal government, leaving it liable for its 

own negligence under § 9607(d)(1)”). But even if the Third Circuit’s dicta concerning 

§ 9607(d)(2) were correct, it would not matter here, as the Sovereign Plaintiffs have alleged both 

recklessness and gross negligence. (E.g., NN FAC ¶¶ 1, 10, 74, 101-02, 105, 107, 121, 125, 146, 

156, 179, 182; NM ¶¶ 1, 4, 88-107, 110, 205, 214; UT FAC ¶¶ 84, 85, 88, 91, 93, 133.) 

EPA’s remedial immunity defense has been presented and rejected. There is no remedial 

exception to CERCLA’s waiver of the United States’ sovereign immunity, and EPA’s proposed 

immunity rule is at odds with the statutory text and case law. The Court thus has subject-matter 

jurisdiction over the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ CERCLA claims against EPA.  
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B. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints state claims for CERCLA liability. 

CERCLA imposes liability on, among others, persons who “operated any facility at which 

[] hazardous substances were disposed of,” “arranged for disposal or treatment” of hazardous 

substances, or “accepted any hazardous substances for transport.” 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(2)-(4). 

Because Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA was an operator, an arranger, and a transporter (any 

one of which is sufficient to create liability) within the meaning of § 9607(a) at the time of disposal 

of the toxic wastewater, EPA’s motion to dismiss fails. (E.g., NN FAC ¶¶ 153-55; NM FAC ¶¶ 78, 

81-98; UT FAC ¶¶ 68-69.) 

1. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints state claims for operator liability. 

“[U]nder CERCLA, an operator is simply someone who directs the workings of, manages, 

or conducts the affairs of a facility.” United States v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51, 66-67 (1998). 

Historically, the Tenth Circuit has applied two tests to determine whether a particular entity 

qualifies as an operator: the “actual control” test and the “authority to control” test. See FMC Corp. 

v. Aero Indus., Inc., 998 F.2d 842, 846 (10th Cir. 1993) (describing both tests and declining to 

“decide which approach is best”). The Tenth Circuit has not clearly announced whether either or 

both of these tests has survived Bestfoods. See Raytheon Constructors, Inc. v. Asarco, Inc., 368 

F.3d 1214, 1217 (10th Cir. 2003) (describing operator liability only in terms of language from 

Bestfoods, and not in the terms of either historical test). And other courts have split on the question. 

Compare City of Wichita, Kansas v. Trustees of APCO Oil Corp. Liquidating Trust, 306 F. Supp. 

2d 1040, 1055-56 (D. Kan. 2003) (“Bestfoods rejected authority to control as a basis for operator 

liability.”) with W. Va. Hospitality and Travel Ass’n, Inc. v. Am. Water Works Co., Inc., 2018 WL 

1353118, at *5 (S.D.W. Va. Mar. 15, 2018) (“In Bestfoods, the Supreme Court did not expressly 

address the authority to control test[.]”) and B.G.N. Fremont Square Ltd. v. Chung, 2013 WL 

12128797, at *8 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 4, 2013) (“Consistent with Bestfoods, the Ninth Circuit utilizes a 
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permissive ‘authority to control’ standard for defining ‘operator.’”). In her February 12 Order, 

Judge Armijo noted that she was “not persuaded that either test is appropriate” and proceeded to 

rely on language in Bestfoods. (Feb 12 Order at 16-17.) 

At any rate, two things are clear. First, under Bestfoods, operator liability attaches to 

entities who “manage, direct, or conduct operations specifically related to pollution, that is, 

operations having to do with the leakage or disposal of hazardous waste, or decisions about 

compliance with environmental regulations.” Bestfoods, 524 U.S. at 66. Second, the operator 

liability inquiry is “fact-intensive” and requires the “consideration of the totality of the 

circumstances.” Tosco Corp. v. Koch Indus., Inc., 216 F.3d 886, 892 (10th Cir. 2000) (citing 

United States v. Vertac Chem. Corp., 46 F.3d 803, 808 (8th Cir. 1995)). Here, no matter whether 

the Court relies on either historical test, or simply looks to Bestfoods, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have 

adequately alleged that EPA had authority to control, and then actually controlled, operations at 

the Gold King Mine that specifically related to the leakage or disposal of hazardous waste. Hence, 

their operator liability claims are not subject to dismissal. 

a. The Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA controlled and directed 
waste disposal activities at Gold King. 

Sovereign Plaintiffs allege, for example, that after EPA was asked to “re-open the Gold 

King Mine,” it created the Task Order and began to mobilize contractors. (NN FAC ¶ 67; NM 

FAC ¶¶ 77-78; UT FAC ¶¶ 34-36.) The Task Order incorporated particular safety regulations and 

indicated that “[a]ll work” at Gold King would proceed pursuant to a work plan approved by EPA 

personnel, (NN FAC ¶¶ 67, 72; NM FAC ¶ 78), demonstrating that EPA maintained ultimate 

control over all excavation activities. 

The Sovereign Plaintiffs also allege that EPA planned and controlled the particular 

excavation activities that led to the blowout, the stated purpose of which was to dispose of the 
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hazardous waste impounded in the Gold King Mine. After it was forced to halt excavation work 

in 2014, EPA “began planning and preparing” for the 2015 excavation. (NN FAC ¶ 84; NM FAC 

¶¶ 82-91; UT FAC ¶¶ 41-42.) It visited Gold King to assess site conditions and discussed the 

installation of a “sump basin to treat water that would be pumped from the mine.” (NN FAC ¶¶ 93-

94; NM FAC ¶ 90.) And in late July, EPA’s onscene coordinator, Steve Way, spoke with a Bureau 

of Reclamation (“BOR”) engineer because he was “unsure about the Gold King Mine plans” and 

wanted an outside review. (NN FAC ¶ 95; NM FAC ¶ 92; UT FAC ¶ 42.) The two agreed that the 

BOR engineer would conduct an all-day, on-site assessment at the mine. (NN FAC ¶ 95; NM FAC 

¶ 92; UT FAC ¶ 42.) In another indication that EPA controlled excavation operations, the OSC 

“emailed specific instructions concerning the work at the Gold King Mine site” to the work crew 

before going on vacation and “leaving [a temporary supervisor] in charge in the interim.” (NN 

FAC ¶ 96-97; NM FAC ¶ 94; UT FAC ¶ 43.) Finally, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have also alleged 

that EPA took actions after the blowout that indicate it was in control of excavation operations at 

the time of the blowout, including (belatedly) the notifying the Sovereign Plaintiffs of the spill, 

(NN FAC ¶ 9), and then “repeatedly admitting its responsibility for the spill,” (NN FAC ¶ 130; 

see also NM FAC 31 ¶ 106; UT FAC ¶ 2). These allegations state a claim for operator liability. 

See Clean Harbors, Inc. v. CBS Corp., 875 F. Supp. 2d 1311, 1329 (D. Kan. 2012) (denying 

defendant’s summary judgment motion on operator liability where parties disputed whether the 

defendant “operated [a] facility and contributed to the handling, storage, treatment, transportation, 

or disposal of a hazardous waste that contaminated the facility”); BancorpSouth Bank v. Envt’l. 

Operations, Inc., 2011 WL 4815389, at *3 (E.D. Mo. Oct. 11, 2011) (denying motion to dismiss 

operator liability claim where complaint “sufficiently allege[d] control” of landfill work site). 

Case 1:18-md-02824-WJ   Document 61   Filed 08/31/18   Page 47 of 89



 

 
- 32 - 

 

EPA argues that the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ operator liability claims must be dismissed 

because it was not “running” the Gold King Mine in a “hands-on manner,” and instead merely 

exercised its “conventional police power to ensure that [hazardous substances] d[id] not pose a 

threat to public health and safety.” (Mot. at 34 (citing United States v. Township of Brighton, 153 

F.3d 307 (6th Cir. 1998).) But Township of Brighton does EPA little good. There, a municipality 

had “made arrangements . . . for bulldozing and other maintenance” at a local dump and otherwise 

“took responsibility for ameliorating the unacceptable condition of the dump.” Township of 

Brighton, 153 F.3d at 316. The Township of Brighton court held that given those facts, it could not 

conclude that the municipality “was not an operator of the facility,” and remanded the question to 

the district court. Id. at 315. It added that although a governmental entity’s mere exercise of 

“conventional police power” does not give rise to operator liability under CERCLA, such an 

exercise must be contrasted with “situations in which the ‘regulations’ are just the government’s 

method of macromanaging the facility.” Id. at 315. Put differently, the question is “whether the 

government entity was running the facility or merely regulating it.” Id. at 316 n.11.  

The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ allegations here go well beyond those at issue in Township of 

Brighton—which were themselves sufficient to state a claim for operator liability—and establish 

that EPA was running waste disposal operations at Gold King, not merely regulating them. Here, 

the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA: (1) issued a detailed Task Order setting forth how work 

was to be performed at Gold King, (2) ordered a halt to excavation activities in 2014 based on 

perceived danger, (3) applied for permits to conduct additional work in 2015, (4) visited the site 

repeatedly with contractors before the excavation began, (5) approved ER’s “Action/Work Plan,” 

(6) sent specific instructions to contractors in late July about how work was to proceed (or, more 

accurately, not proceed), and (7) was present on-site directing the August 2015 excavation that 
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caused the spill. (E.g., NN FAC ¶¶ 67-103; NM FAC ¶¶ 78-98; UT FAC ¶¶ 37-38, 41, 43, 55, 59.) 

This goes far beyond “mere regulation” and is precisely the sort of “macromanagement” that 

Township of Brighton says is a basis for operator liability. 153 F.3d at 316; see 40 C.F.R. 

§ 300.120(a) (“The OSC/RPM [Remedial Project Manager] directs response efforts and 

coordinates all other efforts at the scene of a discharge or release.”). 

b. The Sovereign Plaintiffs also allege that EPA made decisions 
regarding compliance with environmental regulations. 

A party also qualifies as an “operator” for the purposes of CERCLA if it makes “decisions 

about compliance with environmental regulations.” Bestfoods, 524 U.S. at 67; see also City of 

Wichita, Kansas, 306 F. Supp. 2d at 1055-56 (D. Kan. 2003) (imposing operator liability on an 

individual who was present at meetings where “environmental compliance issues were addressed,” 

and whose approval was required for compliance decisions). Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege 

that EPA halted excavation efforts in September 2014 because the settling pond installed at the 

time was not large enough to treat the anticipated waste. (NN FAC ¶ 82; see also id. ¶ 85 

(discussing the installation of a larger basin); NM FAC ¶ 82; UT FAC ¶ 41.) This was 

fundamentally an environmental compliance decision because allowing the waste to overflow the 

settling pond would have violated many environmental regulations, including any applicable 

federal and state water quality standards. The Sovereign Plaintiffs have thus plausibly alleged that 

EPA may incur operator liability on this basis. 

c. The Sovereign Plaintiffs are not required to allege that EPA 
operated a productive mine. 

Next, EPA incorrectly argues that it cannot be an “operator” because it never operated a 

functioning, productive mine. (See Mot. at 15-16.) Bestfoods’ broad definition of an operator 

“undoubtedly encompasses an operator that makes decisions solely about remediation after a 

facility has ceased other operations.” Union Pac. R.R. Co. v. Oglebay Norton Minerals, Inc., EP-

Case 1:18-md-02824-WJ   Document 61   Filed 08/31/18   Page 49 of 89



 

 
- 34 - 

 

17-CV-47-PRM, 2018 WL 1722175 at *10 (W.D. Tex. April 9, 2018). Cleanup efforts at 

contaminated sites can “plausibly constitute management or direction of operations.” Cal. Dep’t 

of Toxic Substances Control v. Jim Dobbas, Inc., 2014 WL 4627248, at *3 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 16, 

2014) (“Jim Dobbas”) (denying motion to dismiss operator liability claims against state agency 

where the agency was alleged to have “issued multiple remedial action plans that selected and 

implemented response actions”). Indeed, EPA’s own cases show that the question for operator 

liability is whether EPA “manage[d], direct[ed], or conduct[ed] operations specifically related to 

pollution, that is, operations having to do with the leakage or disposal of hazardous waste,” 

Bestfoods, 524 U.S. at 66-67, not whether EPA managed mining. EPA’s insistence that it cannot 

be liable as an operator because it did not manage “mine operations,” (Mot. at 36), would also lead 

to a nonsensical rule: that no one can “operate” a shuttered mine under the meaning of CERCLA, 

even to dispose of hazardous waste contained within. EPA does not dispute that the Gold King 

Mine was a “facility” under the meaning of CERCLA. See 42 U.S.C. § 9601(9) (defining “facility” 

as meaning, among other things, any “building,” “structure,” “well,” “pit,” or any other “site or 

area where a hazardous substance has . . . come to be located”). Nor does it explain why abandoned 

mines would be facilities under CERCLA if no one can “operate” them, or why CERCLA would 

tolerate the haphazard disposal of hazardous waste within mines just because the mines are no 

longer active. 

d. EPA’s case law confirms that operator liability is appropriate for 
entities who control waste disposal. 

In attempting to shield itself from operator liability, EPA relies on a trio of cases relating 

to military production during and after WWII and the Cold War. See TDY Holdings, LLC v. United 

States, 122 F. Supp. 3d 998 (S.D. Cal. 2015); Lockheed Martin Corp. v. United States, 35 F. Supp. 

3d 92 (D.D.C. 2014); Miami-Dade Cty., Fla. v. United States, 345 F. Supp. 2d 1319 (S.D. Fla. 
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2004). Each of those cases involved contamination arising from the production of goods pursuant 

to military contracts. TDY Holdings, 122 F. Supp. 3d at 1003 (“a variety of aeronautical products”); 

Lockheed Martin, 35 F. Supp. 3d at 98 (“state-of-the-art solid propellant rocket technologies”); 

Miami-Dade, 345 F. Supp. 2d at 1328 (“overhaul of a number of different models of reciprocating 

aircraft engines and jet aircraft engines”). And in each of the cases, the product manufacturer 

sought to hold the United States liable as an operator because at the time hazardous substances 

were disposed of, the manufacturer had been making products that complied with government 

specifications. After bench trials, those courts declined to hold the government liable—not because 

the government was not actually making products, but because the government’s involvement did 

not pertain to waste disposal.18 TDY Holdings, 122 F. Supp. 3d at 1015–16 (“Government 

personnel had no responsibility for the handling, distribution, use or disposal of chemicals or 

materials contaminated with chemical waste at the [s]ite.”); Lockheed Martin, 35 F. Supp. 3d at 

146 (noting that the government’s “day-to-day role at the [s]ites was limited to ensuring . . . 

compliance with contract specifications for quality assurance purposes”); Miami-Dade, 345 F. 

Supp. 2d at 1342-43 (“The evidence fails to establish Aerodex personnel consulted federal 

personnel on waste disposal matters[.]”). 

Nor is EPA helped by its citations to City of Wichita, Kansas v. Trustees of the APCO Oil 

Corp. Liquidating Trust, 306 F. Supp. 2d 1040 (D. Kan. 2003). There, the district court (after a 

bench trial) declined to hold liable as operators parties who either (a) managed a facility at a time 

prior to any releases of hazardous substances, or (b) “merely admonished” other employees to 

follow general safety standards supplied by a third party for handling chemicals. Id. at 1054-56. 

                                                 
18 That each of the three cases proceeded to trial illustrates that operator liability is “fact-
intensive,” Tosco Corp., 216 F.3d at 892, and therefore ill-suited to resolution on a motion to 
dismiss. 
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But where, as here, the government is involved in waste disposal, it can be liable as an 

operator. In Nu-West Mining, for example, the district court imposed operator liability on the 

federal government because of its involvement in “the design and location of [] waste dumps, and 

in ensuring that the waste dumps complied with [] mining plans and environmental rules.” 768 F. 

Supp. 2d at 1091; see also FMC, 29 F.3d at 838 (holding government liable as operator and 

arranger when it knew about waste production, was “aware of the methods for disposal of the 

waste,” and “provided the equipment for the waste disposal”); Jim Dobbas, 2014 WL 4627248, at 

*4 (denying motion to dismiss operator liability counterclaims against state agency which was 

alleged to have reviewed and approved, though not conducted, remedial actions). EPA attempts to 

distinguish Nu-West Mining by noting that in that case, the government “owned the land where the 

mining was taking place” and “owned the hazardous substance at issue.” (Mot. at 36 n.14.) Both 

those things are true, but neither was material to the result. The Nu-West Mining court held that 

the fact that the government was “actively involved” in waste disposal was “sufficient, as a matter 

of law, for operator liability.” Nu-West Mining, 768 F. Supp. 2d at 1091. 

Because the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA controlled the time, manner, and location 

of waste disposal at Gold King, Nu-West Mining, FMC, and Jim Dobbas—not the military factory 

cases—are the proper analogues here. (See NN FAC ¶ 82 (EPA suspended work in 2014 because 

of an inadequate settling pond and decided to excavate in 2015 instead); ¶ 72 (EPA required that 

all work be pursuant to a work plan it approved); ¶ 94 (EPA discussed the installation of a sump 

basin to treat acid mine drainage); NM FAC ¶¶ 78, 82, 88, 90-91; UT FAC ¶¶ 34-35, 37, 41, 68.) 

e. CERCLA’s statutory scheme supports operator liability. 

Finally, EPA argues that dismissing the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ operator liability claims 

would be “consistent with CERCLA’s broader statutory scheme,” citing Western Processing, 761 

F. Supp. 725. Reasoning that CERCLA was designed to “compel commercial concerns to 
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internalize the costs of waste disposal,” Western Processing held that “shortcomings by a state in 

attempting to remediate hazardous waste problems” do not constitute “ownership or control” for 

the purposes of CERCLA because such a result would unacceptably shift liability for cleanup to 

taxpayers. Id. at 730. But Western Processing is not persuasive for multiple reasons. As discussed 

above, it grounded its holding in blanket remedial immunity, which finds no support in the plain 

language of CERCLA and has thus been rejected by three circuit courts. See supra, Sections 

III.A.2-3. And Western Processing’s viability has been cast in further doubt by Bestfoods, which 

clarified that in construing CERCLA, the word “operator” should be given its “ordinary or natural 

meaning.” Bestfoods, 524 U.S. at 66 (citation omitted). At least one district court has held that 

Western Processing “lack[s] persuasive force” since it “rest[s] on the pre-Bestfoods understanding 

of the term ‘operator.’” Jim Dobbas, 2014 WL 4627248, at *3. Western Processing is not a ground 

for dismissal here, and holding EPA liable for its negligent cleanup efforts does no violence to the 

CERCLA statute. As EPA itself acknowledges, CERCLA’s “scheme of liability ‘ensure[s] that the 

costs of . . . cleanup efforts [are] borne by those responsible for the contamination.’” (Mot. at 4 

(citing Burlington N. and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. United States, 556 U.S. 599, 602 (2009)).) Because 

EPA is “responsible for the contamination” in this instance, it should pay the costs of cleanup. 

E.g., Iron Mountain Mines, 881 F. Supp. at 1445 (“[E]ven if it is critical to make polluters 

internalize the costs of their harmful activities, it does not follow that they should also internalize 

the costs of the government’s negligent response during its cleanup efforts.”)  

2. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints state claims for arranger liability. 

The Sovereign Plaintiffs have also adequately pleaded that EPA is liable under CERCLA 

as an arranger. To incur arranger liability under CERCLA, a party must “by contract, agreement, 

or otherwise arrange[] for disposal or treatment . . . of hazardous substances. . . .” 42 U.S.C. 

§ 9607(a)(3). Arranger liability is “intended to deter and, if necessary, to sanction parties seeking 
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to evade liability by ‘contracting away’ responsibility.” Chevron Mining, Inc. v. United States, 139 

F. Supp. 3d 1261, 1276 (D.N.M. 2015) (internal quotation and citation omitted), aff’d in part, 863 

F.3d 1261 (10th Cir. 2017). 

Arranger liability may be premised on at least two theories, either one of which is 

sufficient. The first is that an arranger took “intentional steps to dispose of a hazardous substance.” 

Burlington N., 556 U.S. at 611. The inquiry whether a particular entity acted with the appropriate 

intent under this theory, and therefore incurred arranger liability, is “fact intensive and case 

specific.” Id. at 610; see also United States v. Cello-Foil Prods, Inc., 100 F.3d 1227, 1234 (6th 

Cir. 1996) (holding that arranger liability’s intent requirement “present[s] interpretive issues 

traditionally understood to be for the trier of fact”). The second is that an arranger “had authority 

to control and exercised control over the disposal process.” Team Enters., LLC v. W. Invest. Real 

Estate Trust, 647 F.3d 901, 907 (9th Cir. 2011); see also id. at 910 (“Arranger liability premised 

on a party’s control over the disposal process is well established.”). Here, Sovereign Plaintiffs state 

a claim for arranger liability under both theories.  

a. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints allege that EPA took 
intentional steps to dispose of and treat hazardous substances. 

The Sovereign Plaintiffs have alleged that EPA took intentional steps to dispose of 

hazardous waste because waste disposal and treatment was a main objective of EPA’s excavation 

activities at the Gold King Mine. EPA began excavating Gold King in 2014 but was forced to halt 

its efforts because it could not properly dispose of hazardous waste: “the settling pond installed at 

the time was not large enough to treat” what EPA believed was “six feet of impounded water” in 

the mine. (NN FAC ¶ 82; see also NM FAC ¶¶ 82, 84-85; UT FAC ¶¶ 40-41.) And before 

resuming work in 2015, EPA again confronted waste treatment and disposal issues when it 
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“discussed . . . the installation of a sump basin to treat water that would be pumped from the mine.” 

(NN FAC ¶ 94; see also NM FAC ¶ 90.) 

Ignoring these allegations, EPA insists that the Sovereign Plaintiffs have not stated a claim 

for arranger liability because the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA’s purpose in excavating at 

Gold King was merely to “investigate,” and not “dispose of,” acid mine drainage. (Mot. at 17.) 

Not so. The Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA became actively involved with the Gold King 

Mine because DRMS and others knew that the mine contained acid mine drainage that posed a 

threat of a blowout. (NN FAC ¶¶ 67-68; NM FAC ¶¶ 64-65, 77, 81; UT FAC ¶¶ 32-35, 37-38.) 

And extraction, “treatment,” and “disposal” of that waste was integral to EPA’s excavation. 42 

U.S.C. § 9607(a)(3); NN FAC ¶¶ 68, 71, 74, 76, 78, 81, 83, 85, 87, 89; NM FAC ¶¶ 78, 88, 90-91, 

94; UT FAC ¶¶ 37-41.) EPA does not explain (nor would it be appropriate on a motion to dismiss) 

why it would have gone to the trouble of arranging the installation of a water treatment basin, for 

example, if it did not in fact intend any water treatment to occur. (NN FAC ¶ 85; NM FAC ¶ 82.) 

And EPA’s decision to halt work in 2014 because it was unable, at the time, to properly treat and 

dispose of waste from the mine also confirms that EPA’s activities extended beyond mere 

“investigation.” (NN FAC ¶¶ 80-81; NM FAC ¶ 82; UT FAC ¶ 41.) 

EPA also incorrectly asserts that the Sovereign Plaintiffs are required to plead that EPA 

“intend[ed] for the spill to take place.” (Mot. at 37.) That is not what the law requires and would 

vitiate CERCLA’s strict liability scheme. The Sovereign Plaintiffs need only allege that EPA took 

“intentional steps to dispose of” the acid mine drainage at issue, Burlington N., 556 U.S. at 611, 

not that it intended the blowout to result. For this reason, EPA’s citations to Burlington N., id., and 

Celanese Corp. v. Martin K. Eby Constr. Co., Inc., 620 F.3d 529 (5th Cir. 2010), are unavailing. 

In Burlington N., an entity was “aware that minor, accidental spills occurred during the transfer” 
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of a hazardous substance, but the spills were only the “peripheral result” of the sale of a product. 

556 U.S. at 612-13. Hence, the disposal was not “planned for” or “intended,” and the mere 

knowledge that some spills occurred was not sufficient for arranger liability. Id. Here, by contrast, 

the Sovereign Plaintiffs have alleged that EPA intended all along to transport, treat, and dispose 

of acid mine drainage from the Gold King Mine but that it ultimately did so recklessly. 

EPA’s reliance on Celanese Corp. is likewise misplaced. There, a methane pipeline owner 

incurred cleanup costs after discovering a leak. 620 F.3d at 530-31. While investigating the leak, 

the owner determined that more than 20 years earlier, the pipeline had been damaged by an 

excavator operator who had struck and dented it. Id. at 530. At the time, the excavator operator 

was not trying to hit the pipeline and was unaware he had struck it at all. Id. The Fifth Circuit 

declined to impose liability on the excavator operator’s employer because it “did not plan or take 

any intentional steps to release methanol from the [] pipeline.” Id. at 531.19 

Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that waste disposal and treatment was integral to 

EPA’s excavation plan. It was not merely the “peripheral result” of some other activity. Burlington 

N., 556 U.S. at 612. And unlike the backhoe operator in Celanese who had no knowledge he had 

struck a pipeline, EPA cannot claim it had no knowledge of its disposal and treatment plan. See 

Celanese Corp., 620 F.3d at 533. The Sovereign Plaintiffs have thus stated claims for arranger 

liability under the “intentional steps” theory. 

                                                 
19 Burlington N. and Celanese Corp. are procedurally distinguishable as well, as both cases were 
appeals from bench trials, not grants of Rule 12(b)(6) motions. See also United States v. Wilmer, 
2013 WL 856513, at *6 (D. Colo. March 7, 2013) (denying summary judgment on the issue of 
arranger liability where “a genuine dispute of material fact remain[ed] as to . . . whether [a party] 
had the requisite intent to dispose of the materials within the meaning of CERCLA”). 
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b. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints allege that EPA controlled the 
disposal process. 

The Sovereign Plaintiffs have also stated a claim for arranger liability under the second 

“control” theory. As explained in section III.B.1.a, supra, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have alleged 

that EPA controlled and directed waste disposal at the Gold King Mine when the spill occurred. 

These allegations are sufficient to state a claim under § 9607(a)(3). See, e.g., United States v. Wash. 

State Dep’t of Transp., 665 F. Supp. 2d 1233, 1242 (W.D. Wash. 2009) (denying motion to dismiss 

arranger liability claims against U.S. Army Corps of Engineers where the “facts [we]re 

insufficiently developed to determine what level of control [the Corps] exerted over [a] dredging 

process” that worsened contamination); Mathews v. Dow Chem. Co., 947 F. Supp. 1517, 1525 (D. 

Colo. 1996) (denying motion to dismiss arranger liability claim where plaintiff alleged defendant 

should have known about leakage and “controlled certain activities” at a work site).  

3. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ complaints state claims for transporter 
liability. 

Finally, New Mexico and the Navajo Nation have stated claims for transporter liability, 

which arises whenever a party “accepts . . . any hazardous substances for transport to disposal or 

treatment facilities . . . from which there is a release[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(4). According to the 

Federal Defendants, “[t]ransporter liability requires a showing that the defendant brought waste to 

a site, accepted waste for transport, or selected a disposal facility.” Mot. at 38 (citing United States 

v. Hardage, 761 F. Supp. 1501, 1511-12 (W.D. Okla. 1990). Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege 

that EPA and other Defendants selected a disposal facility when they selected the site for additional 

water treatment. (NN FAC ¶¶ 82-83, 85, 91, 94; see also NM FAC ¶¶ 82, 90-91); see also Feb. 12 

Order at 33 (denying ER’s motion to dismiss transporter liability claim and explaining that New 

Mexico and the Navajo Nation had adequately alleged facts “with regard to ER’s selection of the 
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site, or participation in the selection of the site, for the treatment of the waste water”). Nothing 

more is required to state a claim for transporter liability under CERCLA. 

IV. The Sovereign Plaintiffs have stated tort claims against the United States. 

A. The discretionary function exception does not apply. 

The FTCA waives the United States’ sovereign immunity so that the government can, 

subject to certain exceptions, be held liable in tort. One exception to this broad immunity waiver 

is the “discretionary function exception,” which bars “[a]ny claim . . . based upon the exercise or 

performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty on the part of a 

federal agency or an employee of the Government[.]” 28 U.S.C. § 2680(a). The exception only 

applies when a two-part test, articulated in Berkovitz by Berkovitz v. United States, 486 U.S. 531 

(1988), is met. That test asks first whether the action complained of was “a matter of choice for 

the acting [federal] employee.” Id. at 536. Then, if so, courts ask whether the employee’s judgment 

“is of the kind that the discretionary function exception was designed to shield,” i.e., those 

judgments “based on considerations of public policy.” Id. at 536-37. Only if both elements of this 

test are met is the United States shielded from tort liability. Here, neither element is met.20  

First, regulatory mandates and contractual duties deprived EPA of discretion at the Gold 

King Mine, so the exception’s threshold requirement is not met. See, e.g., Bell v. United States, 

127 F.3d 1226, 1229-30 (10th Cir. 1997) (holding that the discretionary function did not apply 

when a contract between the government and a contractor “prohibited” a government engineer 

                                                 
20 As discussed at the Court’s Initial Conference, EPA Administrator Pruitt candidly stated that 
“[t]he defenses that have been deployed under the Governmental [sic] Tort Claims Act to deny 
liability, I don’t think are there based upon the facts I’ve reviewed. I think the people of each of 
those respective states deserve to have their claims processed and if the toxic release caused harm 
and damages, how much? It’s fair and right for us to deal with those and make a determination.” 
(Request for Judicial Notice Exhibit 2 [June 19, 2018 Hearing Transcript] 55:12-18 (filed 
concurrently herewith).) Federal Defendants did not contest this statement. 
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from acting in a manner complained of); Dickerson, Inc. v. United States, 875 F.2d 1577, 1581 

(11th Cir. 1989) (holding that “federal statutes, regulations, and policies made the discretionary-

function exception unavailable to the Government”). Second, even if EPA did exercise discretion 

at Gold King, it was not the sort of discretion the exception is intended to protect because EPA’s 

reckless conduct at Gold King was disconnected from any policy considerations. E.g., Boyd v. U.S. 

ex rel U.S. Army, Corps of Engineers, 881 F.2d 895, 898 (10th Cir. 1989) (refusing to apply the 

exception where the challenged decision did not “implicate any social, economic, or political 

policy judgments with which the discretionary function exception properly is concerned”).21  

1. EPA was not exercising discretion when it recklessly burrowed into the 
mine. 

a. EPA assumed voluntary contractual obligations that imposed 
nondiscretionary duties. 

Courts have long recognized that “the government’s voluntarily assumed contractual 

obligations can impose nondiscretionary duties on government employees,” so as to preclude the 

application of the discretionary function exception. Bell, 127 F.3d at 1229 (10th Cir. 1997); Routh 

v. United States, 941 F.2d 853, 855 (9th Cir. 1991) (“[D]iscretion may be removed if the 

government incorporates specific safety standards in a contract which imposes duties on the 

government’s agent.”) (citation omitted).  

As the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege, EPA’s Task Order required that “[a]ll work will be 

performed under the conditions as described in an approved work plan to be submitted to the OSC 

for approval that will be prepared by the Contractor and submitted to the Agency before mine 

rehabilitation work begins.” (NN FAC ¶ 72; NM FAC ¶ 78.) The work plan was submitted, and 

                                                 
21 Here, as in many cases, whether EPA properly exercised discretion at the Gold King Mine is 
“very much a factual issue,” Howard Routh & Sons v. United States, 668 F.2d 454, 456 (10th Cir. 
1981), and therefore not appropriate for resolution on a motion to dismiss in any event. 
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EPA’s OSC approved that plan. (NN FAC ¶ 88; NM FAC ¶ 89.) Thus, EPA voluntarily assumed 

a contractual obligation to conduct all of its work at Gold King as described in that plan. See Bell, 

127 F.3d at 1229. That plan provided, among other things, that an experienced underground 

subcontractor, Harrison Western, would be “mobilized to provide expertise in mine site related 

activities.” (NN FAC ¶ 88; NM FAC ¶ ; UT FAC ¶¶ 12, 36, 85.) Only “after mobilization” would 

the crew ramp up to the top of the Gold King Mine portal, drill in anchors to stabilize the 

excavation, and then gradually pump the impounded water out. (NN FAC ¶ 89.) 

None of those steps occurred. In violation of their contractual duty to perform “[a]ll work” 

at the Gold King Mine “as described in an approved Work Plan,” EPA and its contractors charged 

into the mine before Harrison Western even arrived. (NN FAC ¶¶ 98-104; NM FAC ¶ ; UT FAC 

¶ 85.) They dug at the wrong elevation, the portal was not yet stable, and no one was ready to 

pump water out of the mine. (NN FAC ¶¶ 86, 89-91, 97-98, 103, 107, 174; NM FAC ¶¶ 95-99; 

UT FAC ¶¶ 51-52, 46, 56, 59.) EPA had no discretion to ignore its contractual duties in this 

fashion, and therefore the discretionary function exception does not apply to its conduct. E.g., Bell, 

127 F.3d at 1229; Phillips v. United States, 956 F.2d 1071, 1076 (11th Cir. 1992) (rejecting 

application of discretionary function exception where “the Army Corps assumed substantial, 

mandatory responsibilities for insuring a safe working environment” at a construction site). 

Bell is directly on point. There, a contract between the government and a contractor 

provided that at the conclusion of certain contracted work, a reservoir pipeline needed to be buried 

and the ground leveled. 127 F.3d at 1230. But at the end of the work, the government permitted 

the contractor to leave the pipeline in an elevated “bench,” which subsequently injured a diver. Id. 

at 1227-28. The Tenth Circuit held that the discretionary function exception did not apply because 

the contract “prohibited [the government] from leaving the raised bench.” Id. at 1230. Here, 
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likewise, the Task Order and Action/Work Plan did not grant the government discretion to deviate 

from the agreed-upon plan, which required Harrison Western—not EPA or Environmental 

Restoration—to excavate the portal, only after ramping up, stabilizing the portal, and pumping 

down the impounded water. The discretionary function exception cannot apply. 

b. EPA violated applicable mandatory regulations. 

The discretionary function exception also does not apply “when a federal statute, 

regulation, or policy specifically prescribes a course of action” for a federal employee to follow, 

because in such instances, “the employee has no rightful option but to adhere to the directive,” and 

there is “no discretion in the conduct for the discretionary function exception to protect.” Berkovitz, 

486 U.S. at 536. Here, separate and apart from its contractual duties, EPA failed to comply with a 

variety of applicable regulations. The discretionary function exception therefore does not apply. 

See Tobar v. United States, 731 F.3d 938, 946-47, 949 (9th Cir. 2013) (taking plaintiff’s allegations 

as true that the government “violated its own regulations and policies” and holding that the 

discretionary function exception would not bar claims based on those non-discretionary duties); 

Dickerson, 875 F.2d at 1581 (holding discretionary function exception inapplicable where a 

federal agency failed to follow EPA regulations); U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co. v. United States, 837 F.2d 

116, 120 (3d Cir. 1988) (“[A]n agency’s violation of its own mandatory regulations is not a 

discretionary act.”).  

(1) EPA Violated EPA and OSHA Regulations. 

EPA was required to comply with a host of federal EPA and OSHA regulations at the Gold 

King Mine, including 40 C.F.R. § 300, 29 C.F.R. § 1910.120, and 29 C.F.R. § 1926. Indeed, EPA’s 

Task Order required that “[a]ll activities directed by EPA’s [OSC] must remain consistent with” 

40 C.F.R § 300, also known as the “National Contingency Plan” or “NCP”. (NN FAC ¶ 67; NM 

FAC ¶ 175.) Section 300.150(a) of the NCP provides that “[r]esponse actions under the NCP will 
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comply with the provisions for response action worker safety and health in 29 C.F.R. § 1910.120,” 

which is titled “Hazardous waste operations and emergency response.” 40 C.F.R. § 300.150(a); 29 

C.F.R. § 1910.120. (NM FAC ¶ 205 & n.8.) Part 1910.120(a)(2)(i), in turn, makes clear that “[a]ll 

requirements of part 1910 and part 1926 of title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations apply 

pursuant to their terms to hazardous waste and emergency response operations whether covered 

by this section or not.” 29 C.F.R. § 1910.120(a)(2)(i).22 The applicable OSHA regulations cover 

subject matter ranging from particular safety requirements for hazardous waste responses to 

“[s]pecific excavation requirements” governing all excavation work. See, e.g., 29 C.F.R. 

§ 1926.651; 29 C.F.R. § 1910.120. EPA and its contractors’ negligent excavation of the Gold King 

Mine failed to follow these mandatory regulations in several ways, and the Sovereign Defendants 

were harmed as a result.23  

                                                 
22 Additionally, the site Health and Safety Plan that was incorporated into the final work plan and 
reviewed and accepted by EPA OSC states that “[a]ll work will be performed in accordance with 
applicable Federal 29 CFR 1910 and 1926 Health and Safety Regulations and the Federal 29 
CFR 1910.120 Hazardous Waste Site Safety Regulations.” (NN FAC ¶ 93; NM FAC ¶ 205 & 
n.8.) 
23EPA asserts that OSHA regulations can never be specific enough to remove the government’s 
discretion because they “apply across many different work places, sites, and situations.” (Mot. at 
50.) This is nonsensical. Agencies do not issue worksite-specific regulations. To require that a 
regulation be worksite-specific to remove the government’s discretion would gut the rule that the 
discretionary function exception does not apply “when a federal statute, regulation, or policy” 
prescribes particular conduct. Berkovitz, 486 U.S. at 536. It is settled that regulations that apply to 
more than one worksite can deprive the government of discretion. See Ayala v. Joy Mfg. Co., 877 
F.2d 846, 849 (10th Cir. 1989) (Mine Safety Health Administration regulations); Dickerson, 875 
F.2d at 1581 (CERCLA and EPA regulations); Camozzi v. Roland/Miller and Hope Consulting 
Gr., 866 F.2d 287, 288 (9th Cir. 1989) (OSHA regulations); Matthews v. United States, 720 F. 
Supp. 1535, 1540 (D. Kan. 1989) (Army safety manual). And EPA’s related argument that 
OSHA’s regulations never “specifically dictate particular courses of conduct” (Mot. at 50) is badly 
at odds with OSHA’s imposition of criminal penalties for violations, 29 U.S.C. § 666, as well as 
the findings of multiple courts that have determined OSHA regulations were specific and 
mandatory for the purposes of the discretionary function exception, e.g., Camozzi, 866 F.2d at 288; 
Gotha v. United States, 115 F.3d 176, 181 (3d Cir. 1997); Bobo v. AGCO Corp., 981 F. Supp. 2d 
1130, 1152-54 (N.D. Ala. Oct. 29, 2013). The only case EPA cites to the contrary is White v. U.S. 
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First, EPA violated 29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(i), which is subtitled “Stability of adjacent 

structures.” That regulation requires entities doing excavation work to install “support systems . . . 

to ensure the stability” of adjoining walls or structures that might be threatened by the excavation. 

29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(i)(1). It also forbids excavating “below the base or footing of any foundation 

or retaining wall that could be reasonably expected to pose a hazard” except when additional 

precautions are taken, such as “underpinning” the structure or consulting a “registered professional 

engineer.” 29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(i)(2).  

The Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA knew the Gold King Mine portal was unstable. 

The portal had previously caved in on itself, and EPA’s Task Order recognized that the “removal 

of material” would “destabilize[]” the blockage. (NN FAC ¶ 68; NM FAC ¶ 78; UT FAC ¶ 37.) 

Excavation in September 2014 was aborted because of concerning conditions, including seepage. 

(NN FAC ¶ 80; NM FAC ¶ 82; UT FAC ¶ 41.) This necessitated a revised work plan to excavate 

the adit and portal safely. (NN FAC ¶ 81; NM FAC ¶ 82; UT FAC ¶ 41.) That plan required that 

Harrison Western “drill[] in wire mesh anchors” and “hang[] wire mesh” to stabilize the mine 

portal and prevent a blowout or collapse as excavation of the portal proceeded. (NN FAC ¶ 89.) 

Yet EPA proceeded with excavation before installing the anchors and mesh that would have 

functioned as the required “support structure” under subpart 1926.651(i). It also excavated “below 

the level of the base” of the portal and high wall into unstable rock without providing a “support 

                                                 
Dep’t of Interior, 656 F. Supp. 25 (M.D. Penn. 1986), aff’d, 815 F.2d 697 (3d Cir. 1987). But in 
White, the plaintiff failed to even identify which OSHA regulations were violated, and the court’s 
review turned up only two plausibly relevant regulations, neither of which the court found applied 
to the case at hand. Id. at 33-34. Moreover, the court held that neither regulation at issue in White 
was “expressly aimed at mine shaft backfilling operations,” which was the operation in question. 
Id. at 34. Here, by contrast, the OSHA regulations cited by the Sovereign Plaintiffs apply “to all 
open excavations made in the earth’s surface.” 29 C.F.R. § 1926.650(a).  
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system” or consulting a registered professional engineer, as specifically prohibited by subpart 

1926.651(i). (NN FAC ¶¶ 98-99, 107, 174; NM FAC ¶¶ 95-97.) 

Second, EPA violated 29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(h), which forbids employees from working 

“in excavations in which there is accumulated water, or in excavations in which water is 

accumulating, unless adequate precautions have been taken to protect employees against the 

hazards posed by water accumulation.” 29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(h)(1). 

Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA knew that water impounded within the Gold 

King Mine risked a blowout and that it would need to take “adequate precautions” to protect 

employees. Hence, EPA’s Task Order required the “ability to pump water from behind the 

blockage and lower the water level in a controlled manner before the blockage is destabilized by 

removal of material.” (NN FAC ¶ 68; NM FAC ¶ 205; UT FAC ¶ 37.) Nevertheless, the EPA crew 

proceeded to disregard these precautions, rushing headlong into excavation in August 2015 before 

the water removal equipment arrived and before the mine excavation experts from Harrison 

Western (“HW”) arrived. This violated the regulation requiring “adequate precautions” and “water 

removal” that was designed in the plan “to prevent the uncontrolled release of mine water.”24 (NN 

FAC ¶¶ 98, 107, 174; NM FAC ¶¶ 78, 80, 205; UT FAC ¶¶ 51-54, 85.) 

Third, EPA violated subpart 1910.120(b)(1)(iii), which states that “[s]ite excavations . . . 

during hazardous waste operations shall be shored or sloped as appropriate to prevent accidental 

collapse in accordance with subpart P of 29 CFR part 1926.” 29 C.F.R. § 1910.120(b)(1)(iii). EPA 

                                                 
24 Although subpart 1926.651(h) acknowledges that precautions can “vary with each situation,” it 
mandates that employees “shall not work” without taking “adequate precautions.” Here, the 
Sovereign Plaintiffs have alleged that EPA and its contractors adopted specific “adequate 
precautions” in the work plan based on the situation at Gold King, and then proceeded to 
disregard them, violating part 1926.651(h). (E.g., NN FAC ¶ 89.) 
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violated this mandatory requirement when it failed to safely ramp up and provide support prior to 

excavation. (NN FAC ¶¶ 89, 98, 103.) 

Fourth, EPA violated subpart 1926.651(k), subtitled “Inspections,” which mandates 

“[d]aily inspections of excavations” and “protective systems” by “a competent person for evidence 

of a situation that could result in possible cave-ins, indications of failure of protective systems . . . 

or other hazardous conditions.” 29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(k).25 Pursuant to that subpart, inspections 

“shall be conducted by the competent person prior to the start of work and as needed throughout 

the shift.” Id. Here, the work plan made clear that HW—and not ER or EPA—was the “competent 

person” to inspect the excavation work. 29 C.F.R. § 1926.651(k); NN FAC ¶¶ 89-90; see also NM 

FAC ¶ 89; UT FAC ¶ 85.) Indeed, the work plan stated that ER would only “support” Harrison 

Western, the experts in “mine site related activities” and that ER would excavate “only under 

supervision of someone qualified to identify underground hazards.” (NN FAC ¶ 89.) Yet EPA 

crew excavated on August 4-5, 2015, without HW present to inspect. (Id. ¶¶ 98, 103; see also NM 

FAC ¶¶ 94-98; UT FAC ¶¶ 36, 85.) 

Fifth, EPA failed to adequately train workers on site to deal with “expected emergencies” 

like the blowout of hazardous acid mine drainage that occurred on August 5, 2015, as required by 

29 C.F.R. § 1910.120(e)(7). (NN FAC ¶¶ 104, 107; see also NM FAC ¶ 175, 2065 & n.8; UT FAC 

¶¶ 51-53.) EPA argues that this section did not constrain its discretion here because training is 

always discretionary and because the regulation does not dictate how training is to be performed. 

EPA is wrong. Although courts do dismiss negligent training claims as barred by the discretionary 

                                                 
25 “Competent person” is defined as “one who is capable of identifying existing and predictable 
hazards in the surroundings or working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous, or dangerous 
to employees, and who has authorization to take prompt corrective measures to eliminate them.” 
29 C.F.R. § 1926.32(f). 
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function exception when no applicable statute or training requires training to begin with—as in the 

two cases EPA cites, Nurse v. United States, 226 F.3d 996, 1001 (9th Cir. 2000) and Burkhart v. 

Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth., 112 F.3d 1207, 1217 (D.C. Cir. 1997)—courts permit 

negligent training claims to proceed to discovery where, as here, the government was required to 

conduct some sort of training, and the extent of required training is in dispute. See, e.g., Gooden v. 

U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 339 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 1079 (D.N.D. 2004) (discretionary function exception 

did not apply to negligent training claim where law enforcement handbook required training); 

Conrad v. United States, 2017 WL 1102609, at *3 (D.S.C. Mar. 22, 2017) (denying motion to 

dismiss negligent training claim based on discretionary function exception where there was a 

“factual dispute” over which training procedures applied). And EPA’s argument that 

§ 1910.120(e)(7) “does not dictate how the training is to be performed” misses the point, as here 

it is not clear that EPA performed any training at all. (See NN FAC ¶ 104 (describing how the 

excavation crew responded to the blowout by asking, “What do we do now?”); NM FAC ¶ 98; UT 

FAC ¶ 59.) No one disputes that § 1910.120(e)(7) specifically mandates at least some training, and 

Sovereign Plaintiffs are entitled to discover whether EPA conducted any training whatsoever. 

Sixth, Plaintiffs allege that EPA disregarded OSHA’s requirement, set forth in 29 C.F.R. 

§ 1910.120, of an adequate health and safety plan (“HASP”). (NM FAC ¶¶ 175, 205; see also NN 

FAC ¶ 174(i); UT FAC ¶ 53.) Once again, EPA does not dispute that Sovereign Plaintiffs have 

adequately pleaded that any HASP in place at Gold King was not in compliance with OSHA. 

Instead, EPA argues that (1) the HASP is “immaterial” to EPA’s liability because it is only 

“relevant to actions taken by EPA contractors,” and (2) that Sovereign Plaintiffs have pointed to 

no “particular provision” in OSHA that could have “restricted EPA’s discretion.” (Mot. at 49-50.) 

EPA is wrong. First, federal Hazardous Waste Operations and Emergency Response 
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(“HAZWOPER”) regulations require EPA and its contractors to prepare a contingency plan that 

complies with OSHA standards for hazardous waste operations and emergency response. See 29 

C.F.R. § 1910.120(b)-(o). These regulations explicitly require EPA,26 not anyone else, to “assure 

compliance” with relevant regulations and to “address[] worker health and safety concerns at a 

response scene.” See 40 C.F.R. §§ 300.120; § 300.135(l).27 Second, HAZWOPER prescribes 

specific protocols and actions that EPA failed to implement and follow during the Gold King Mine 

investigation. Although EPA prepared a health and safety plan (“HASP”) for on-site activities, 

EPA left out a critical, mandatory element: an Emergency Response Plan (“ERP”). See 29 C.F.R. 

§§ 1910.120(b)(4)(ii)(H), 1910.120(l). An ERP is a type of contingency plan that defines the 

responsibilities, lines of authority, resources, and action necessary to respond to any emergencies 

that could occur at a site. HAZWOPER explicitly states that an ERP “shall be a separate section 

of the [HASP],” id. at § 1910.120(1)(3)(ii), and “shall be reviewed periodically and, as necessary,” 

to ensure that the plan can adequately address new or changing site conditions. Id. at § 

1910.120(l)(3)(v).28 

                                                 
26 EPA’s contention that these regulations bind only contractors misses the point. The Sovereign 
Plaintiffs allege that EPA and the contractor jointly developed the HASP without an Emergency 
Response Plan (“ERP”), and further, that EPA approved the plan before the Gold King Mine 
blowout. (NM FAC ¶ 90; UT FAC ¶¶ 51-53.) EPA never had discretion to draft a plan that did 
not include an ERP. 
27 EPA’s Emergency Responder Health and Safety Manual, 
https://response.epa.gov/_healthsafetymanual/manual-index.htm, confirms that EPA response 
actions must comply with HAZWOPER. The manual states—in mandatory language—that a 
“comprehensive work plan must be prepared … must address the health and safety hazards of 
each phase of site operations, and must include the requirements and procedures for employee 
protection.” See Chapter 1, Section 3.1. This “federal . . . policy specifically prescribes a course 
of action for an employee to follow” and leaves “the employee has no rightful option but to 
adhere to the directive.” Berkovitz, 486 U.S. at 536. 
28 EPA has final, supervisory authority over HAZWOPER compliance during CERCLA response 
actions. See 59 Fed. Reg. 47424, 47391 (Sept. 15, 1994). In the preamble to the 1994 NCP 
revisions incorporating HAZWOPER, EPA wrote that “[t]he OSC already is the senior official in 
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Sovereign Plaintiffs allege, and EPA has admitted,29 that the Gold King Mine HASP did 

not include an ERP, even though EPA knew that a blowout could occur. (NN FAC ¶ 174; NM 

FAC ¶¶ 79, 102, 105, 173, 175, 205; UT FAC ¶¶ 51-53.) EPA’s failure to prepare and plan for this 

well-known hazard violated mandatory provisions of the NCP, HAZWOPER, and EPA’s own 

policy. The discretionary function exception does not apply to protect that failure.30 

(2) EPA violated the Mine Safety and Health Act. 

EPA’s premature excavation also violated provisions of the Federal Mine Safety and 

Health Act of 1977 (“MSHA”) and Title 30, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 75, which are 

intended to protect workers from uncontrolled releases of impounded water in abandoned mine 

workings. (NM FAC ¶ 176 & n.7; UT FAC ¶ 54.) See also 30 C.F.R. § 75.372 (requiring “up-to-

date map of the mine drawn to a scale of not less than 100 nor more than 500 feet to the inch”); id. 

at § 75.388(a)(2) (requiring mine operators to drill boreholes as the working place approaches 

within 200 feet of an area of the mine not shown by certified surveys); id. at § 75.1200 (requiring 

mine operators to maintain an “accurate and up-to-date map” of a mine “in an area on the surface 

of the mine”). EPA does not deny that its conduct did not conform to MSHA; instead, it says 

MSHA only applies to “underground coal mines.” (Mot. at 51-52.) But EPA overlooks that the 

Task Order incorporated the MSHA regulations, making them applicable to the Gold King Mine 

excavation regardless of whether they would have been otherwise. (NM FAC ¶ 78); see also Routh, 

                                                 
charge of worker safety, health, and training requirements during a spill response under the NCP 
. . . . [T]he OSC in this capacity is required to comply with all applicable OSHA regulations.” 59 
Fed. Reg. at 47391.  
29 EPA Internal Review of the August 5, 2015 Gold King Mine Blowout (Aug. 24, 2015), 
https://www.epa.gov/goldkingmine/internal-investigation-documents. 
30 EPA also failed to timely notify the Sovereign Plaintiffs and other downstream communities of 
the spill. (NN FAC ¶¶ 1, 9, 120, 174.) This was in violation of NCP regulations that state that 
“[t]he OSC/RPM shall ensure that the trustees for natural resources are promptly notified of 
discharges or releases.” 40 C.F.R. § 300.135(j)(1). 
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941 F.2d at 856 (“[D]iscretion may be removed if the government incorporates specific safety 

standards in a contract which imposes duties on the government’s agent.”). 

2. EPA’s reckless excavation contrary to its plans was not susceptible to 
policy considerations. 

Even if EPA somehow exercised discretion despite its mandatory regulations and 

contractual duties, it was not the kind of discretion the discretionary function exception was 

“designed to shield.” See Berkovitz, 486 U.S. at 536. The purpose of the exception is to “prevent 

judicial ‘second guessing’ of legislative and administrative decisions grounded in social, 

economic, and political policy” through tort suits. Id. at 536-37. The exception is not to be used to 

“create inconsistent liabilities between private and government employees performing identical 

acts,” Marlys Bear Med. v. U.S. ex rel. Sec’y of Dep’t of Interior, 241 F.3d 1208, 1213 (9th Cir. 

2001), or to protect the federal government from liability for “ordinary ‘garden-variety’ 

negligence,” Aslakson v. United States, 790 F.2d 688, 693-94 (8th Cir. 1986), lest the exception 

swallow virtually all tort liability for the federal government. Here, EPA attempts to avail itself of 

the discretionary function exception because it abandoned its work plan and negligently bore into 

the mine without necessary safety protocols. It may not do so. 

a. EPA’s implementation of its Gold King Mine work plan was not 
grounded in policy. 

Federal Defendants insist that the Gold King Mine excavation involved “many policy 

choices related to safety, feasibility, resource allocation, and environmental protection.” (Mot. at 

56); cf. Garcia v. United States, 709 F. Supp. 2d 1133, 1150 (D.N.M. Apr. 5, 2010) (“If one were 

to think creatively, one could always find some policy or other that one’s actions might impact.”). 

But it cannot explain why the actions the Sovereign Plaintiffs challenge—including excavating at 

the wrong elevation, without proper equipment, and before the BOR employee and Harrison 

Western arrived—were susceptible to these choices. (NN FAC ¶¶ 98-103; NM FAC ¶¶ 94-98, 101, 

Case 1:18-md-02824-WJ   Document 61   Filed 08/31/18   Page 69 of 89



 

 
- 54 - 

 

105, 205; NN FAC ¶¶ 44-52, 56-59, 85.) By that time, EPA had already allocated resources, 

elected a safety plan, and made a feasibility determination about how to excavate at the Gold King 

Mine. EPA’s conduct at the mine was not susceptible to policy choices that may have undergirded 

the original decisions. Ayala, 877 F.2d at 849 (holding that the negligent installation of mining 

electrical equipment “involved no [] policymaking choices”); Aslakson, 790 F.2d at 693 (holding 

that the discretionary function exception did not apply to a plaintiff’s challenge to “a decision 

made by [government] officials charged with the responsibility of implementing an already 

established policy”); Marlys Bear Med., 241 F.3d at 1215 (“The decision to adopt safety 

precautions may be based in policy considerations, but the implementation of those precautions is 

not.”); Indian Towing v. United States, 350 U.S. 61, 69 (1955) (holding that once the government 

“exercised its discretion” to build a lighthouse, it was “obligated to use due care” to keep the light 

in good working order);31 Coffey v. United States, 906 F. Supp. 2d 1114, 1162 (D.N.M. 2012) 

(“Once the BIA ‘exercised its discretion’ to transfer inmates, . . . [it] was obligated to use due 

care[.]”). No matter how it attempts to repackage the issue, Federal Defendants “cannot claim that 

both the decision to take safety measures and the negligent implementation of those measures are 

                                                 
31 Some courts have expressed skepticism as to Indian Towing’s applicability in the discretionary 
function exception context. E.g., Harrell v. United States, 443 F.3d 1231, 1237 (10th Cir. 2006) 
(concluding that Indian Towing is not “persuasive authority in the context of the discretionary 
function exception”). However, the Supreme Court in both Berkovitz and Gaubert reaffirmed 
Indian Towing’s applicability to the second prong of the exception. See Berkovitz, 486 U.S. at 
538 n.3 (holding that Indian Towing “illuminates the appropriate scope of the discretionary 
function exception”); Gaubert, 499 U.S. at 326 (recognizing Indian Towing’s holding that 
negligently failing to maintain the lighthouse “did not involve any permissible exercise of policy 
judgment”). The Eleventh Circuit has also recently explained that Indian Towing stands for the 
proposition that once the federal government exercises its discretion to undertake a particular 
project, failing to do so safely “is simply not a permissible exercise of policy judgment.” See 
Swafford v. United States, 839 F.3d 1365, 1371-72 (11th Cir. 2016). Here, Sovereign Plaintiffs 
argue that EPA’s decision to disregard the work plan and excavate in an unsafe manner was—
like the failure to maintain the lighthouse in Indian Towing—not susceptible to policy 
considerations. 
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protected policy decisions. This argument would essentially allow the [g]overnment to 

administratively immunize itself from tort liability under applicable state law as a matter of 

policy.” Marlys Bear Med., 241 F.3d at 1215 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

In arguing that EPA’s decision to excavate on August 5, 2015, was a protected exercise of 

discretion, the Federal Defendants rely on Daigle v. Shell Oil Co., 972 F.2d 1527 (10th Cir. 1992), 

and U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co. v. United States, 837 F.2d 116 (3d Cir. 1988). But both Daigle and U.S. 

Fid. involved broad-based challenges to the timing of environmental projects. See Daigle, 972 

F.2d at 1542 (plaintiffs alleged that the Army “rushed into [a] clean-up without proper planning”); 

U.S. Fid., 837 F.2d at 123 (plaintiffs challenged a “timing decision”). Neither case is like this one, 

where the Sovereign Plaintiffs challenge the negligent, reckless, and worse implementation of a 

predetermined plan. 

Federal Defendants also assert that EPA’s actions at the Gold King Mine were susceptible 

to public policy even if characterized as implementation. But in doing so, Federal Defendants 

confuse implementation of permissible discretion with implementation of a predetermined course. 

The difference is illustrated by Lopez v. United States, 376 F.3d 1055 (10th Cir. 2004). There, the 

plaintiff challenged the Postal Service’s placement of a mailbox which obstructed the view of a 

road, causing an automobile accident. The Tenth Circuit determined that the Postal Service had 

the discretion to locate postal routes, and that the decision where to put a particular mailbox was 

susceptible to policy considerations because it was “part and parcel of the broader task of 

establishing delivery routes.” Id. at 1059, 1061. Lopez reasoned that the “policy-fraught choice 

about how to structure the delivery route” could not be “artificially separat[ed]” from the “choice 

about how to locate mailboxes along that route.” Id. at 1060; see also Zumwalt v. United States, 

928 F.2d 951, 954 (10th Cir. 1991) (implementation of a Park Service policy was susceptible to 
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policy considerations because implementation required “individual judgment” regarding which 

portions of a path were dangerous). Indian Towing, the Lopez court explained, was different: there, 

“the policy objectives behind the lighthouse’s construction” were “of a different order” than the 

ones underlying “the tasks involved in [lighthouse] maintenance.” Lopez, 376 F.3d at 1059. 

This case is like Indian Towing, not Lopez. EPA’s excavation plan at the mine may have 

been guided by policy considerations. But EPA’s disregard of the plan and excavation without due 

care were not. Unsafe implementations of predetermined plans are not “part and parcel” of the 

discretion underlying the plans themselves, and none of Federal Defendants’ case law is 

inconsistent with the principle that “‘implementation’ of a course of action is not a discretionary 

function.” Myers v. United States, 652 F.3d 1021, 1032 (9th Cir. 2011) (emphasis added).32 

Nor are Federal Defendants correct that EPA’s decisions at the Gold King Mine were 

discretionary despite involving only technical and scientific judgments. They cite a bevy of cases 

uncontroversially holding that when governmental activities are grounded in both policy 

considerations and technical and scientific considerations, the discretionary function exception 

may apply. E.g., First Nat. Bank in Albuquerque v. United States, 552 F.2d 370, 376 (10th Cir. 

1977) (conduct involved “scientific as well as public policy considerations”). But again, Federal 

Defendants do not explain how EPA’s deviation from the work plan was guided by policy 

determinations that had already been made during the yearlong planning process. (NN FAC ¶¶ 67-

97; NM FAC ¶¶ 82, 88-98, 105; UT FAC ¶¶ 41-44, 57-59.) When all that are at issue are technical 

                                                 
32 To put Lopez into proper context here, one would have to imagine that the Postal Service 
employees tasked with installing a mailbox in a particular location instead put the mailbox in a 
different location—say, in the middle of the road—similar to how EPA crew excavated at the 
wrong elevation without ramping up, without stabilizing the portal, and without the proper 
equipment in place. Such a decision would not be “part and parcel” of the Postal Service’s 
discretion to locate routes; it would just be a botching of predetermined plans. 
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and safety determinations, the exception does not apply. Ayala, 877 F.2d at 848-49; see also Myers, 

652 F.3d at 1032 (“[M]atters of scientific and professional judgment—particularly judgments 

involving safety—are rarely considered to be susceptible to social, economic, or political policy.”); 

Boyd v. U.S. ex rel U.S. Army, Corps of Engineers, 881 F.2d 895, 898 (10th Cir. 1989) (refusing 

to apply exception for failure to warn swimmers of dangerous conditions). Federal Defendants 

advance, at length, a similar argument about how technical decisions cannot be “divorced from the 

larger policy-based context” in which they exist. (Mot. at 61.) But this, too, aims at the wrong 

target—the plan, rather than the negligent and wrongful implementation of that plan (the latter of 

which forms the basis for the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ tort claims). See Myers, 652 F.3d at 1032. 

Unable to articulate how the mishandled excavation at Gold King was susceptible to policy 

considerations, the United States falls back on arguing that every single decision EPA made (or 

could have made) at Gold King is per se protected by the discretionary function exception because 

EPA occasionally balances policy goals in its operations. (See Mot. at 61 n.22.) The United States’ 

own case law describes this position as “extreme.” Kohl v. United States, 699 F.3d 935, 941 (6th 

Cir. 2012) (rejecting the government’s contention that “every decision, at every level” of an 

operation involving policy goals, was “shielded from liability”). And the Tenth Circuit has 

decisively rejected it, explaining that accepting the government’s argument that all decisions that 

“involve choice and any hint of policy concerns” are immune would “not only eviscerate the 

second step of the analysis set out in Berkovitz and Gaubert, but it would allow the exception to 

swallow the FTCA’s sweeping waiver of sovereign immunity.” Duke v. Dep’t of Agriculture, 131 

F.3d 1407, 1411 (10th Cir. 1997). 

b. CERCLA does not preclude FTCA claims. 

Federal Defendants also appear to advance an alternative ground for dismissal based on the 

discretionary function exception: that, per se, “activity under CERCLA implicates discretionary 
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policy choices and is therefore immune from liability under the FTCA”—even when the activity 

is the negligent implementation of a CERCLA work plan. (Mot. at 54.) But no court has ever held 

so broadly that any action the government takes related to CERCLA is exempt from claims under 

the FTCA. To the contrary, as set forth above, every appellate court to consider whether EPA has 

blanket immunity when engaged in CERCLA response actions has rejected it. See, e.g., E. Bay 

Mun. Util. Dist., 142 F.3d at 482-84. Indeed, CERCLA expressly allows for liability based on 

negligent conduct by federal agencies engaged in cleanup actions. 42 U.S.C. § 9607(d)(1); e.g., 

Shell Oil Co., 294 at 1053-54. It would thus be contrary to CERCLA’s plain language to find that 

negligence claims are per se barred against the government when it was engaged in activity under 

CERCLA. Rather, when determining whether the discretionary function exception applies under 

the FTCA, Gaubert requires courts to make a careful inquiry into whether the government’s 

challenged actions were in fact susceptible to policy considerations. United States v. Gaubert, 499 

U.S. 315, 325 (1991) (“The focus of the inquiry is . . . on the nature of the actions taken and on 

whether they are susceptible to policy analysis.”). 

The CERCLA cases cited by EPA are not to the contrary, as they neither announce a per 

se rule of governmental immunity for CERCLA activity, nor involve botched response actions to 

begin with. Daigle, for example, involved only “generalized claims” by a plaintiff that in 

conducting an environmental remediation, “the Army could have done a better job in planning for 

and attaining the overall goals of public health and safety as expressed through CERCLA,” 

including by “prioritiz[ing] the removal action” at one location over others. 972 F.2d at 1541. 

Bungled implementation of a response action was not at issue in Daigle, and—in direct contrast 

to EPA’s argument here that CERCLA response actions are wholly immune from tort liability—

the Tenth Circuit in Daigle explained that “specific violations” of the CERCLA statute could 
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“survive the discretionary function exception.” Id. at 1541. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., similarly, found 

only that a “timing decision” made during a governmental response action “called for a policy 

judgment,” not that all decisions made under CERCLA are policy judgments, let alone that EPA 

is making a policy determination whenever it ignores its own plan and proceeds unsafely. See 837 

F.2d at 123. EPA’s other cases are similarly distinguishable: they involved challenges to policy 

decisions like when and how to conduct a remediation, not mishandled response actions that 

caused environmental disasters. See Gadsden Indus. Park, LLC v. United States, 2017 WL 

4387217 (N.D. Ala. Oct. 3, 2017), appeal docketed No. 17-15325 (11th Cir. Nov. 30, 2017) (EPA 

and contractors removed and sold useful materials from hazardous waste site); Welsh v. U.S. Army, 

2009 WL 250275, at *1-4 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 3, 2009) (rejecting pro se plaintiffs’ challenge to Army’s 

general “investigation, remediation and reuse decisions”); W. Greenhouses v. United States, 878 

F. Supp. 917, 928-29 (N.D. Tex. 1995) (after a bench trial, concluding that the plaintiffs failed to 

show that the Air Force’s assessment of hazardous waste management practices at Reese Air Force 

Base did not involve policy considerations). EPA cites no cases where its careless implementation 

of a planned response action—for which it later accepted responsibility—was held to be 

susceptible to policy considerations.33 And even setting that implementation aside, EPA does not 

attempt to explain how its failure to have an adequate emergency plan in place, or failure to warn 

downstream communities, involved policy considerations. See Boyd, 881 F.2d at 898 (“An alleged 

failure to warn swimmers of dangerous conditions in a popular swimming area does not implicate 

any social, economic, or political policy judgments[.]”). 

                                                 
33 EPA argues that Daigle involved “the alleged execution of a CERCLA cleanup” because the 
plaintiffs there alleged that the Army “rushed into the cleanup without proper planning.” (Mot. at 
57 (citing Daigle, 972 F.2d at 1541).) This misses the point: here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have 
alleged not only that EPA rushed into the remediation without proper planning, but in affirmative 
disregard of plans that had been set in place. No analogous allegations were at issue in Daigle. 
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Federal Defendants conclude by arguing that the Court must not “second guess[]” EPA’s 

decisions at the Gold King Mine. But no second-guessing is necessary here to understand that the 

Gold King Mine spill was not the measured, deliberate policy decision Federal Defendants now 

wish it had been. To avoid responsibility for this mistake (despite repeatedly accepting 

responsibility before Congress and in public, e.g., NN FAC ¶ 124; UT FAC ¶ 2), Federal 

Defendants ask this Court to extend the discretionary function exception to protect it from 

negligence far removed from any “legislative [or] administrative decision[] grounded in social, 

economic, and political policy.” See Berkovitz, 486 U.S. at 536-37. But “[i]f [the Court] were to 

accept the Government’s broad interpretation of the discretionary exception, it is difficult to 

perceive which duties under tort law could not be avoided by a similar policy decision to ignore 

them.” Smith v. United States, 546 F.2d 872, 877 (10th Cir. 1976). 

In sum, (1) EPA’s actions at Gold King were not discretionary—because EPA was bound 

by its contracts and by federal regulations—and (2) whatever discretion EPA exercised at Gold 

King was not grounded in policy. See Gaubert, 499 U.S. at 322-23. Because neither element of 

the discretionary function test is met, the Federal Defendants’ motion to dismiss should be denied. 

B. The damages the Sovereign Plaintiffs seek are cognizable under applicable 
law. 

1. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ claimed damages do not derive from third 
party injuries and are not remote. 

The Federal Defendants assert that the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ tort claims are non-justiciable 

because some of the claimed damages derive from third party injuries, and are therefore “too 

remote” to recover. (Mot. at 63-65 [citing Nat’l Roofing, Inc. v. Alstate Steel, Inc., 366 P.3d 276, 

281-82 (N.M. Ct. App. 2015)].) They are wrong. 

As an initial matter, the Supreme Court has made clear that states are “not normal litigants 

for the purposes of invoking federal jurisdiction.” Massachusetts v. E.P.A., 549 U.S. 497, 518 
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(2007). Hence, states are afforded “special consideration when analyzing [their] standing to bring 

suit.” New Mexico v. Dep’t of the Int., 854 F.3d 1207, 1219 (10th Cir. 2017).34 This solicitude 

extends to efforts by states to recover for “injuries to their quasi-sovereign interest in lands within 

their borders.” New Mexico ex rel. Richardson v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 565 F.3d 683, 696 n.13 

(10th Cir. 2009). Because New Mexico, the Navajo Nation, and Utah all assert claims based on 

damages to lands within their borders, they are entitled to special solicitude in the standing 

analysis. 

But even if the Sovereign Plaintiffs were not entitled to special solicitude, the Federal 

Defendants’ motion would still fail. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ damage allegations do not depend 

on damage to third parties. Just like any sovereign, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have a proprietary 

interest in collecting tax revenue. See Maryland v. Louisiana, 451 U.S. 725, 736–37 (1981). This 

interest gives states standing to challenge another state’s actions that reduce tax receipts. See 

Wyoming v. Oklahoma, 502 U.S. 437, 438 (1992). To demonstrate standing, a state need only show 

a “fairly direct link between the state’s status as a . . . recipient of revenues and . . . the action being 

challenged.” Wyoming v. Dept. of Int., 674 F.3d 1220, 1234–35 (10th Cir. 2012). 

Because the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that they have lost tax revenue because of the 

release and its attendant effects on the Animas and San Juan Rivers in New Mexico, the Federal 

Defendants’ reliance on Nat’l Roofing is wholly off-base.  In Nat’l Roofing, a private corporation 

brought strict liability and negligence claims against several defendants based on physical injuries 

sustained by the its employees, and sought damages for “increased workers’ compensation 

premiums, sums paid to reduce its insurance rating or modifier, and lost income and future income 

                                                 
34 “[T]ribes, like states, are afforded special solicitude in [the] standing analysis.” Mashantucket 
Pequot Tribe v. Town of Ledyard, 722 F.3d 457, 463 (2d Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks 
removed and citation omitted). 
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resulting from its now defunct safety record.” 366 P.3d at 277 (internal quotation marks omitted). 

The district court dismissed these claims because the corporation itself suffered no physical or 

property damage, and the appellate court affirmed because “public policy categorically prohibits 

recovery under these circumstances.” Id. at 282. But that policy was rooted in the concern that 

“liability for indirect (but foreseeable) consequences to third parties resulting from negligent harm 

could be limitless given society’s proliferation of commercial relationships and the corresponding 

potential for unbounded actual and prospective economic harm flowing from a single negligent 

act.” Id. at 279. 

That concern is plainly not present here. The Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that “reduced 

economic activity and concomitant reduction in GDP caused by the spill have directly affected 

New Mexico’s tax base,” costing the State “millions of dollars in taxes, fees, and other income 

from regional economic activities.” (NM FAC ¶¶ 115, 117; NN FAC ¶ 35; UT FAC ¶¶ 62, 96, 

133.) They also allege that “lingering stigma” from the release resulted in “lost economic activity 

and associated taxes, fees and income because of reduced tourism, fishing and land uses,” into the 

foreseeable future. (NM FAC ¶¶ 117-18; NN FAC ¶ 201; UT FAC ¶ 62, 96, 133.)35
 These claims 

                                                 
35 Even if the extent of these harms is slight (and it is not), precedent indicates that a relatively 
small injury can confer states with standing to sue. See, e.g., Texas v. United States, 809 F.3d 
134, 155 (5th Cir. 2015), aff'd by an equally divided Court, ––– U.S. ––––, 136 S.Ct. 2271, 2272 
(2016)) (holding that Texas had satisfied the injury-in-fact requirement by demonstrating that it 
would lose several million dollars in issuing drivers licenses to beneficiaries of executive action 
on immigration); Washington v. Trump, 847 F.3d 1151, 1161 (9th Cir. 2017) (concluding that 
alleged harms to States’ proprietary interests as operators of public universities conferred 
standing to challenge Executive Order of January 27, 2017 banning entry of aliens from certain 
countries); Washington v. Trump, 2017 WL 462040 at *1 (slip copy) (E.D. Wa.) (finding 
immediate and irreparable injury sufficient for issuance of TRO where states, in part, alleged 
injuries to their operations, tax bases, and public funds as a result of Executive Order of January 
27, 2017). 
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are rooted in the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ proprietary interest as tax collectors. Nothing in Nat’l 

Roofing addresses whether a state government has standing to sue under these circumstances. 

The Federal Defendants also assert that by not alleging “a distinct and palpable injury to 

itself,” the Sovereign Plaintiffs lack standing under federal law to sue for damages resulting from 

“a generalized economic decline.” (Mot. at 63-64.) But here too, the Federal Defendants distort 

the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ allegations and injuries. As noted above, the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ tort 

injuries arise out of a direct decline in economic activity and tax revenue caused by the August 5 

release. It is settled under federal law that a state may sue for injuries to its proprietary interests 

caused by another state or a federal agency. See e.g., Wyoming v. Oklahoma, 502 U.S. 437 (1992) 

(finding direct injury in form of loss of severance tax revenue); Dept. of Int., 674 F.3d at 1234–35 

(“We do not foreclose the argument that reduced tax revenues can provide a state with Article III 

standing”); Mount Evans Co. v. Madigan, 14 F.3d 1444, 1451 (10th Cir. 1994) (recognizing federal 

agency decision causing “loss of revenue sharing and sales tax monies” as an injury-in-fact ); 

Tembec, Inc. v. U.S., 441 F. Supp. 2d 1302, 1313-14 (C.I.T. 2006) (“The deprivation of tax revenue 

has been recognized as an injury in fact . . . .”) (citing Mount Evans Co., 14 F.3d at 1451-52); 

Pennsylvania v. Kleppe, 533 F.2d 668, 671-73 (D.C. Cir. 1976) (holding that reduced tax revenue 

is “a comprehensible harm to the economic interests of the state government”); see also Gladstone 

Realtors v. Village of Bellwood, 441 U.S. 91, 110-11 (1979) (noting that “[a] significant reduction 

in property values directly injuries a municipality by diminishing its tax base”).36 

                                                 
36 Although some courts have denied Article III standing to states claiming lost revenues based 
on an absence of an injury-in-fact, those rulings should be understood and distinguished as 
involving complaints that federal administrative actions had inflicted economic harm on state 
and local governments, or that federal agencies had wrongfully denied discretionary benefits to 
public entities. See, e.g., Kleppe, 533 F.2d at 672 (acknowledging depleted tax revenue could 
constitute actual economic harm to state’s interests where there is “some fairly direct link 
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Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs allege that EPA’s tortious conduct contaminated their 

waterways and frustrated economic activity that depends on those waterways, thereby reducing 

tax revenue, tourism, and associated revenue, among other consequential harms. These damages 

are not the product of a federal regulatory policy or the deprivation of government benefits. Rather, 

they flow directly from EPA’s tort that affected the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ property. Cf. Sosa v. 

Alvarez-Machain, 542 U.S. 692, 703-704 (2004) (proximate cause under the FTCA requires 

“causation substantial enough, and close enough to the harm to be recognized by the law, but a 

given proximate cause need not be, and frequently is not, the exclusive proximate cause of harm.”); 

see also Paroline v. United States, 572 U.S. 434 (2014) (proximate cause is designed to “preclude 

liability in situations where the causal link between conduct and result is so attenuated that the 

consequence is more aptly described as mere fortuity.”) It was hardly fortuitous that the “indelible 

images of a mustard-hewed toxic plume meandering stream” (NM FAC ¶¶ 117) would stigmatize 

the Animas and San Juan Rivers, thereby reducing economic activities associated with those 

waterways. Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs have adequately alleged a “direct relation between the 

injury asserted and the injurious conduct alleged.” Bank of America v. City of Miami, 137 S. Ct. 

1296, 1299 (2017) (citation omitted). 

And insofar as the Federal Defendants contest the scope or severity of those injuries, those 

issues are irrelevant to standing and not appropriate at the pleading stage. See Dept. of Int., 674 

F.3d at 1234 n.8 (“[T]he extent of the injury is not relevant to . . . standing.”). The Sovereign 

Plaintiffs allege a “direct link between [their] status as tax collector and recipient of revenue” and 

EPA’s misconduct. See Kleppe, 533 F.2d at 672. 

                                                 
between the state’s status as tax collector and recipient of revenue and the legislative or 
administrative action being challenged”); Dept. of Int., 674 F. 3d at 1234 (same); Iowa ex rel. 
Miller v. Block, 771 F.2d 347, 353-354 (8th Cir. 1985) (same). 
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Finally, EPA incorrectly argues that the Navajo Nation’s “standing problem is not cured 

by bringing claims parens patriae.” (Mot. at 65.) As explained above, the Navajo Nation does not 

in fact have a “standing problem”; the tort damages it seeks are routinely available. And whether 

the Navajo Nation can assert claims against the federal government in parens patriae is beside the 

point, as it asserts tort claims against EPA in its own capacity as well, (see NN FAC ¶ 12), and 

alleges that EPA’s negligence caused injury to the Nation itself, (id. ¶ 177).37 

2. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ do not assert claims for interference with 
contract. 

The Court has jurisdiction over the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ claims for damages to reduced 

tourism and agricultural activity because those claims do not “aris[e] out of . . . interference with 

contract rights.” 28 U.S.C. § 2680(h). Here, EPA breached its duty to carry out its investigation at 

Gold King with reasonable care (NN FAC ¶¶ 172-77; NM FAC ¶¶ 201-02, 205-08; UT FAC ¶¶ 

59, 82, 84), causing the Sovereign Plaintiffs to lose tax revenue and suffer other harms arising 

from the contamination of their rivers. The Sovereign Plaintiffs do not allege that EPA interfered 

with their contractual relationships or their “business expectations.” The taxing power is not a 

contract right nor a business expectation, but a core attribute of sovereignty. See McCullough v. 

                                                 
37 The Federal Defendants’ argument that “[p]arens patriae is not available against the federal 
government” is too simplistic. (Mot. at 65.) In Massachusetts v. E.P.A., the Supreme Court 
determined that Massachusetts’ “stake in protecting its quasi-sovereign interests” granted it 
“special solicitude” in the standing analysis in its lawsuit against the federal government. 549 U.S. 
at 520. And it did so notwithstanding a dissent that complained that the majority had 
“overlook[ed]” the fact that Supreme Court case law “cast[s] significant doubt on a State’s 
standing to assert a quasi-sovereign interest—as opposed to a direct injury—against the Federal 
Government.” Id. at 539 (Roberts, C.J., dissenting). The Federal Defendants do not dispute that 
the Nation’s parens patriae claims against other defendants are well-pled, i.e., that the Nation has 
sufficiently identified the required “quasi-sovereign interest.” See Alfred L. Snapp & Son, Inc. v. 
Puerto Rico ex rel., Barez, 458 U.S. 592, 601 (1982). And Massachusetts requires that such an 
interest receive significant weight in the standing analysis even on claims brought in the Nation’s 
own capacity. 
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Maryland, 17 U.S. 316, 337-38 (1819); see also Pinghua Zhao v. Montoya, 329 P.3d 676, 681 ¶ 14 

(N.M. 2014) (“The Legislature’s inherent authority and discretion to exercise the State’s power of 

taxation is plenary[.]”). The Federal Defendants offer no authority for their claim that a state’s 

taxing power creates a contractual relationship with citizens or implicates “business expectations.” 

Instead, they rely on two inapposite cases: a wrongful termination suit between private parties, 

Cooper v. Am. Auto Ins. Co., 978 F.2d 602 (10th Cir. 1992), and a suit between a private party and 

the United States alleging the wrongful termination of government defense contracts, Art-Metal-

U.S.A. v. U.S., 753 F.2d 1151 (D.C. Cir. 1985).38 Section 2680(h) does not apply. 

3. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ tort claims seek money damages. 

Next, the Federal Defendants argue—citing only to Utah’s First Amended Complaint—

that the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ requests for “investigation, clean-up and remedial costs” are really 

just disguised requests for injunctive relief, which is not available under the FTCA. (Mot. at 66-

67 (citing Estate of Trentadue v. United States, 297 F.3d 840, 863 (10th Cir. 2005).) But the 

Federal Defendants do not cite any cases (and the Sovereign Plaintiffs are aware of none) 

dismissing tort claims for investigation, cleanup, or remedial costs on the ground that the claims 

were tantamount to a request for an injunction. And they do not explain how their argument, even 

if correct, would justify the dismissal of the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ tort claims in their entirety. See 

                                                 
38 In Cooper, the plaintiff alleged that the government negligently handled an investigation of 
complaints against his employer. 978 F.2d 602, 611 (10th Cir. 1992). The Court affirmed the 
lower court’s dismissal under Section 2680(h) because the claims “could be construed as claims 
of tortious interference with present or future contractual relations” due to the plaintiff’s specific 
allegations that the government’s actions caused the cancellation of a contract to sell his business 
and the loss of future business opportunities. Id. at 613. In Art-Metal U.S.A., the plaintiff brought 
claims based on the government’s cancellation of federal defense contracts, including a claim for 
“interference with prospective advantage.” 753 F.2d 1151, 1153-54 (D.C. Cir. 1985). On appeal, 
the plaintiff argued that his interference with prospective advantage claim was a distinct common 
law tort not barred by Section 2680(h). Id. at 1154. The circuit court rejected this argument 
because the plaintiff sought “to recover for the breach of duties identical to those underlying . . . 
a claim for interference with contract rights.” Id. Those issues are not relevant here. 
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Equal Emp’t Opportunity Comm’n v. CollegeAmerica Denver, Inc., 869 F.3d 1171, 1175 (10th 

Cir. 2017) (“[A] district court cannot dismiss a claim solely because a plaintiff seeks excessive or 

otherwise inappropriate relief.”). Each of the Sovereign Plaintiffs seeks compensable money 

damages under its tort claims—both damages that are ongoing, and damages that have already 

been sustained (and which therefore could not fairly be described as repackaged requests for 

prospective injunctive relief). (E.g., NN FAC ¶¶ 122-123; NM FAC ¶¶ 201, 214; UT FAC ¶¶ 62, 

86, 96-97, 99.) As a result, the Federal Defendants’ request that the Court dismiss some limited 

portion of the relief sought by the Sovereign Plaintiffs is premature; having requested eligible 

remedies on their tort claims, the Sovereign Plaintiffs are entitled to proceed beyond the pleadings. 

Doe v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 753 F.2d 1092, 1104 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (“It need not appear that [a] 

plaintiff can obtain the specific relief demanded as long as the court can ascertain from the face of 

the complaint that some relief can be granted.”).39 

At any rate, however, the Federal Defendants are wrong. The Sovereign Plaintiffs’ requests 

for cleanup, remediation, and response costs are exactly what they purport to be: a demand that 

EPA pay for the costs of its negligence. In other words, these requests are prototypical requests for 

money damages. See Marina Bay Realty Trust LLC v. United States, 407 F.3d 418, 423 n.9 (1st 

Cir. 2005) (referring to “money damages seeking reimbursement for cleanup costs”); New York v. 

Lashins Arcade Co., 881 F. Supp. 101, 104 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (noting, in the CERCLA context, that 

“[e]xpenses and costs incurred by tort victims customarily are recoverable as part of money 

                                                 
39 The Federal Defendants’ reference to the “essential purpose” test of jurisdiction is beside the 
point. (See Mot. at 67.) That test refers to courts’ determinations whether jurisdiction over a suit 
against the United States lies exclusively in the Claims Court. See Eagle-Picher Indus., Inc. v. 
United States, 901 F.2d 1530, 1532 (10th Cir. 1990). It is designed to prevent plaintiffs from 
evading Claims Court jurisdiction by bringing suits for injunctive relief, the “thrust” of which are 
to “obtain money from the United States.” Id. The test has no application here, where the Sovereign 
Plaintiffs seek money damages. 
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damages”). The Federal Defendants may not avoid paying for the costs of EPA’s negligence by 

relabeling the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ demands for money damages as requests for injunctive relief. 

4. CERCLA does not preempt the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ tort claims.  

Finally, the Federal Defendants, relying solely on General Electric, argue that the Court 

“lacks jurisdiction over tort claims for natural resource damages.” (Mot. at 67.) Not so. In General 

Electric, the Tenth Circuit acknowledged that CERCLA’s savings clauses preserve state law 

claims for NRD, and that NRD claims can be “premised upon both CERCLA and state law.” Id. 

at 1243-44, 1247. But it also explained that pursuant to conflict preemption principles, CERCLA’s 

restrictions on the use of NRD under section 9607(f)(1)40 prevented recovery of NRD “earmarked 

for the State’s general treasury fund.”  Id. at 1237, 1248. In other words, General Electric did not 

hold, as the Federal Defendants say, that state law claims for NRD are “categorically prohibited 

as a matter of law.”  (Mot. at 69.)  Nor did it hold that that the State of New Mexico’s claims were 

“completely preempted” by CERCLA.  Gen. Elec. Co., 467 F.3d at 1247.  Instead, it held only that 

permitting New Mexico’s state tort law claim for NRD to survive “in its original form” would run 

afoul of CERCLA, and that the claim needed to be “narrowed” to restrict New Mexico’s ability to 

use NRD damages as contemplated by section 9607(f)(1)—i.e., to “restore, replace, or acquire the 

equivalent” of the damaged natural resource.41 Id.  

                                                 
40 This limitation does not apply to Tribes, including the Navajo Nation. Section 9607(f)(1)—in 
separate sentences—provides that neither “States” nor the “United States Government” may use 
natural resource damages for anything other than the restoration of natural resources. It does not 
apply the same restriction to tribes, despite referring to tribes as separate from “States” elsewhere 
in the same paragraph. Id. The Sovereign Plaintiffs have since agreed with EPA to temporarily 
stay Utah’s NRD claims, and toll the statute of limitations for New Mexico and the Navajo 
Nation’s NRD claims while the natural resource trustees complete their assessment. 
41 The Federal Defendants also appear to argue not only that the Sovereign Plaintiffs tort claims 
are preempted by CERCLA’s NRD scheme, but also that the Court lacks jurisdiction to even 
consider the claims. This position is untenable under General Electric, which explained that the 
issue whether CERCLA’s NRD scheme preempts state law tort claims is “[a]t most” an issue of 
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Here, the Sovereign Plaintiffs tort claims seek damages beyond NRD: consequential 

damages to their interests that have flowed (and continue to flow) from the spill. (E.g., NN FAC 

¶ 122; NM FAC ¶ 214.) These damages include everything from costs borne in responding to the 

spill—like the cost of procuring safe water—to stigmatic damages to tourism, recreation, and other 

economic activity in the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ territories. (Id.) New Mexico’s FAC, for example, 

makes clear that its tort claims attempt to recover for “[s]tigma from the Gold King release” that 

has led to “reduced tourism, fishing, and land uses, including a significant reduction in agricultural 

and ranching activities.” (NM FAC ¶ 117.) Similarly, the portions of the Navajo Nation’s pleading 

excerpted by the Federal Defendants establish only that the Nation expects collateral damage from 

the spill will continue to occur as long as the San Juan River and Lake Powell remain polluted. 

(E.g., NN FAC ¶¶ 11.) Accordingly, General Electric does not even reach Sovereign Plaintiffs’ 

tort claims in their entirety. And insofar as General Electric does apply to those claims, it will “[a]t 

most” only restrict how Sovereign Plaintiffs can use NRD remedies they recover under state law, 

not whether they can seek NRD under state law in the first instance. 467 F.3d at 1244. Remedies 

are not an appropriate subject for a motion to dismiss, Doe, 753 F.2d at 1104, and because the 

Federal Defendants’ “preemption argument does not extend to [the Sovereign Plaintiffs’] claims, 

but rather the relief that is sought, it is premature” on a motion to dismiss.  Reece v. AES Corp., 

2014 WL 61242, at *10 (E.D. Okla. Jan. 8, 2014), aff’d, 638 F.App’x 755 (10th Cir. 2016). 

Utah’s tort claims seeking NRD, among other damages, are also not barred by CERCLA 

for the simple reason that there is no ongoing remedial action in Utah. (UT FAC ¶ 63.) Actions 

                                                 
“conflict preemption—an affirmative defense.” Gen. Elec. Co., 467 F.3d at 1244; see also Zanders 
v. Wells Fargo Bank N.A., 55 F. Supp. 3d 1163, 1172 n.4 (S.D. Iowa 2014) (“Conflict preemption 
is not jurisdictional, but an affirmative defense.”). The Federal Defendants offer no contrary 
authority. 
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for NRD are not premature where, as here, the government is not “diligently proceeding with a 

remedial investigation and feasibility study . . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 9613(g)(1)(B) (emphasis added). 

And Section 113(h) does not preclude State law claims where there is no impact on any remedial 

action—Gen. Elec. Co. is therefore inapposite. See Section I, supra. Utah’s NRD claims are viable 

unless and until EPA begins and diligently proceeds with a remedial action to address 

contamination in Utah. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the Federal Defendants’ motion.42 
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42 To the extent the Court dismisses any of the Sovereign Plaintiffs’ claims, the Sovereign Plaintiffs 
request leave to amend. See Rosenfield v. HSBC Bank, USA, 681 F.3d 1172, 1189 (10th Cir. 2012) 
(courts should freely give leave to amend unless amendment would be futile). 
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